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Guide to this report
This report presents the statutory compliance, performance and operational reporting for
the financial year ending 30 June 2013. It covers four principal sections:
Overview — outlines who we are and what we do, the industries and communities we
support, and how we go about our business. It also highlights our performance and
the significant changes we have made to our outcomes, services and key performance
indicators.
Agency performance — outlines our key achievements along with details of how we
performed against targets for the year.
Significant issues — provides a description of current and emerging issues and trends
affecting our operations.
Disclosures — provides the audited reports of our key performance indicators and
financial statements along with our disclosures. This section demonstrates how we ensure
our operations are ethically, socially and environmentally responsible.
Appendix — a statement by the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation (as required
under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945).
In this report, we refer to the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia as
‘the department’ or ‘DAFWA’.
A list of acronyms used in this report is provided on the following page.
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Acronyms
AEGIC
AQIS
BAM Act
BJD
CAR
CRBA
CRC
DAFF
DAFWA
DAIP
DEC
DFES
DoP
DoW
EEO
FOI
FPC
FTE
GM
GRDC
GVAP
ILS
KPIs

Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre
Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
bovine Johne’s disease
Central Agricultural Region
Carnarvon Rangeland Biosecurity Association
Cooperative Research Centre
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (federal)
Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
Department of Environment and Conservation
Department of Fire and Emergency Services
Department of Planning
Department of Water
equal employment opportunity
freedom of information
Forest Products Commission
full-time equivalent (staff hours)
genetically modified
Grains Research and Development Corporation
gross value of agricultural production
Indigenous Landholder Service
key performance indicators

LCDC
NAR
NGNE
NRM
NRMWA
OSH
PISC
RD&E
RSPCA
SAILS
SAR
SSF
WANDRA
WARMS
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Land Conservation District Committee
Northern Agricultural Region
New Genes for New Environments (project)
natural resource management
State Natural Resource Management program
occupational safety and health
Primary Industries Standing Committee
research, development and extension
Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals
Southern Agricultural Indigenous Landholder Service
Southern Agricultural Region
Statistical Seasonal Forecast (model)
Western Australian Natural Disaster Relief Arrangements
Western Australian Rangeland Monitoring System
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Executive summary

Responding to need
We have worked with industry participants to address the
issues and opportunities as they have arisen — and have been
innovative in how we went about it.

Our department’s vision is “a progressive, innovative and
profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western
Australia”. Achieving this vision drives what we do, no matter
the challenges or issues the sector or our department faces.

After a temporary hold-up on the export of sheep to the Middle
East in late 2012 — which created industry anxiety and a fall in
sheep prices — we mobilised the WA Live Exports Taskforce to
assist the industry, focusing on communication, risk management
and diplomacy, with exports returning to normal soon after.

We were able to maintain focus on our vision and target our
resources and services accordingly throughout the 2012/13
financial year, despite the continuing rollercoaster ride of
seasonal, market and economic conditions experienced by the
sector.

With our state experiencing a more variable climate and lower
rainfalls in many regions, we continued our leadership role in
national drought policy reform, delivering more workshops and
training to help farmers prepare for adverse conditions.

While most industries enjoyed reasonable production and yields,
a number of major issues continued to challenge the sector,
including the high Australian dollar, ongoing live export issues,
supply chain pressures, and poor seasons in parts of the state.

In April 2013, we took the lead in administering the state
government’s $7.8 million assistance package to support
struggling farm businesses and rural communities in the
wheatbelt that have been affected by an unprecedented
sequence of seasonal events, including droughts and frosts.

The year also highlighted our sector’s enormous future
opportunity, particularly through the growing demand for food
from Asia.

Additionally, to help primary producers to make more informed
decisions to improve their yields and profitability, we rolled out 24
new weather stations across the wheatbelt and south-west with
the support of Royalties for Regions funding.
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Supporting your success
Our role as an economic development department is about
supporting the success of, and creating value for, businesses
all along the supply chain. We support the success of our
agriculture and food businesses, industry organisations,
our funding and service delivery partners and others toward
achieving our shared goals. During the year, our department
adopted the positioning statement “Supporting your success”,
part of a brand refresh project to ensure our clients know who
we are and what we can do for them.
We see many opportunities for success arising from Asia
which is looking for a reliable supplier of high-quality, safe and
healthy agriculture and food products due to its rapidly growing
populations and incomes that are fuelling greater consumption
of higher protein, higher calorie diets.
Through the Agrifood 2025+ initiative, we brought key industry
leaders together to develop a shared strategic action plan to
substantially increase the capacity of businesses to grasp the
Asian opportunities. Integral to the sector’s success will be a
values-based approach to communication where industry can
effectively highlight its value and gain the confidence of the
community.
We also started mapping out a new future for WA’s dairy industry
to take advantage of increased demand for milk and milk-based
products from Asia. We completed a pre-feasibility study that
shows there is a plausible pathway to develop major dairy
supply chains and systems in WA to meet export demand, and
promoted this opportunity to major Chinese processors and
distributors.

7

DAFWA developed the new positioning statement “Supporting your success”
in 2012/13 accompanied by a series of promotional images highlighting the
work of department staff.
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Also high on our agenda was facilitating capital investment
to accelerate WA agricultural development. We completed
extensive land and water assessments as part of Stage 2 of the
Ord–East Kimberley Expansion Project, under which Chineseowned company Kimberley Agricultural Investment was named
the proponent to develop 13 400ha into irrigated farmland.

Our department has taken the national lead on grains RD&E,
including the establishment of the Australian Export Grains
Innovation Centre (AEGIC) in November 2012. Developed
in collaboration with the Grains Research and Development
Corporation, AEGIC aims to deliver world-class research and
services to increase the competitiveness of the Australian grains
industry.

No less important has been our effort to protect the WA agrifood
sector and community from pests and diseases and maintain
our state’s enviable biosecurity status. Following years of hard
work by staff, including extensive consultation with industry and
the community, the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management
Act 2007 (BAM Act) came into full effect on 1 May. The Act
modernises the law and removes inconsistencies to better serve
business and the community.

This was complemented by the opening of our second New
Genes for New Environments facility in Katanning in October
2012. The multi-user crop trial facility allows private and public
research organisations to evaluate genetically modified and
conventional traits in a safe, controlled location to help develop
higher performance grain varieties.

Recognition

Partnerships

Through the 2012/13 financial year, we continued to receive
recognition for our work on the WA Pilot of Drought Reform
Measures. The pilot, which has helped farm families, businesses
and communities prepare for and respond to drought, won the
national Strategic Planning Award at the Economic Development
Australia Awards presentation in late 2012.

In an environment of constrained resources across government
and many businesses, we were strongly focused on delivering
client and broad community value more efficiently and focusing
on the highest priorities.
We have made the most of our resources by working with
industry organisations and counterparts in other states,
particularly through the National Primary Industries Research
Development and Extension (RD&E) Framework, which
encourages greater collaboration and continuous improvement
in the investment of RD&E resources nationally.

The pilot was also shortlisted in the 2012 WA Premier’s
Awards and, in early 2013, was highly commended at the WA
Multicultural Community Service Awards for tailoring workshops
to meet the needs of Vietnamese-speaking horticultural
producers in Carnarvon.
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We also earned praise for our collaboration with remote
Aboriginal communities as part of the Australian Feral Camel
Management Project. In May 2013, the national project received
the Cooperative Research Centres Association “Innovation in
Education and Training for Public Outreach Activities” award.
The award recognised the project’s innovative approach in
engaging and gaining the support of Aboriginal landholders and
communities to control feral camel populations.

In summing up the 2012/13 financial year, we continued to
reinforce our role as an economic development department by
focusing on the projects and initiatives that will deliver most
value to businesses while maintaining our ability to effectively
respond to issues and incidents.
I expect 2013/14 will be another year of ups and downs for
the WA agrifood sector — but once again we will be working
alongside businesses and industry to make the ride as smooth
and successful as possible.

Our people
Once again, the skills, efforts and dedication of our staff were
the reason our department could support the success of the
sector.
This financial year, we focused on reinforcing our strengths,
standards and consistency through the launch of our
oneDAFWA ways of working. The focus of oneDAFWA
is on leadership, innovation, collaboration, engagement,
knowledge and communication, with our staff now having clear
expectations of each other to help ensure success for ourselves,
our clients and the agrifood sector.

Rob Delane
Director General

We also maintained our focus on building skills through our
people leadership program and project management training.
Through our Business Systems Improvement Program,
we completed a $3.6 million IT infrastructure upgrade and
significantly progressed the roll-out of a new electronic
document management system to better allow staff to store,
search for and share information such as data and research
across the organisation and with our clients and partners.

9
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Supporting your success by the numbers

•

Helped facilitate a $700 million investment in agricultural production in the Kimberley as part of Stage 2 of the
Ord–East Kimberley Expansion Project

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Modelled a new supply chain for WA’s dairy industry to produce an extra 250
Completed a $3.6

million litres of milk a year for export

million upgrade of the department’s IT infrastructure
Helped increase the state’s sheep flock by 400 000 through the More Sheep Initiative
Carried out 144 682 tests to certify the health status of 239 shipments of livestock
Inspected 142 826 imported plant lines
Seized 41 611kg of quarantine risk material

Streamlined regulatory approvals for feedlot applications, reducing approval costs by more than $40
Removed 10

000 on average

000 mesquite and parkinsonia trees, weeds of national significance, from around the Carnarvon townsite
Delivered training to almost 1000 employees
Completed an 820 km upgrade of the State Barrier Fence to keep wild dogs out of agricultural areas
Provided farm planning workshops to 500 businesses
Demonstrated more effective use of crop inputs such as fertilisers and chemicals to growers through 80 Yield Prophet® sites across the
agricultural regions

•
•
•
•
•
•

Intercepted 53 plant pests and diseases

Brought together 40 industry leaders to develop a plan to double the real value of sales from WA’s agrifood businesses by 2025
Installed 24 automatic weather stations in the south-west

Employed 7 trainees of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander descent
Commercially released 5 new grains crop varieties, including oat variety Bannister
Opened the 2nd New Genes for New Environments facility in Katanning

10

Overview

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Operational structure
Enabling legislation
The Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia
was established in 1894 and operates under the Public Sector
Management Act 1994.

Responsible Minister
The Hon. Ken Baston MLC
Minister for Agriculture and Food

Minister’s profile
Ken Baston joined Cabinet as the Minister for Agriculture and
Food in March 2013, after eight years in the Western Australian
Legislative Council.
He takes on the portfolio with first-hand experience, having
been raised on a sheep station north-west of Carnarvon and
later owning and managing Ella Valla sheep station for 34 years,
successfully exporting meat and wool.

He was first elected to the WA Government in 2005
representing the Mining and Pastoral Region and since has
been involved in major improvements to the area, including
the Ord-East Kimberley Expansion.

Minister Baston has served on local council and agricultural
organisations, including as Deputy President of the Shire of
Carnarvon. He chaired the Gascoyne Branch of the Pastoralists
and Graziers Association and later led a WA Farmers Federation
district committee. He served on a range of steering committees
and taskforce groups dealing with agriculture, pastoral and
fishing issues.

Minister Baston is determined to help grow the agriculture
and food sector in Western Australia, aware that there
are exciting opportunities to service expanding overseas
markets.

11
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Department profile
Our role
We assist WA’s $6 billion agriculture and food sector to be sustainable and profitable, with a clear focus on export-led
growth. We do this by supporting industries in both increasing their cost competitiveness and by establishing new or
“transformed” industries better suited to modern market and business conditions.
We also work with business, landholders and the broader community to protect and enhance WA’s valuable natural resource
assets and enviable biosecurity status.
The strategies by which we address each of these areas are set out in our current Strategic Plan, the key elements of which
are outlined below. This plan is under review in line with the objectives of the Liberal/National coalition government elected
in March 2013.

Our vision
A progressive, innovative and profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western Australia.

Our mission
To work with our partners to develop the agriculture and food sector; and to effectively manage risks to the natural and
biological resources on which it relies.

Our approach
We are a dynamic organisation that collaborates with a diverse range of partners throughout the world to generate
innovation, knowledge and excellence. We work professionally, responsibly and with integrity to deliver meaningful results to
industry, government and the community.

Our partners
We build and maintain strong local, national and international strategic links with the public and private sectors to deliver
value throughout the agriculture and food supply chains. Effective partnerships are essential to our success.

Our capability
We have a statewide network of dedicated and talented staff able to address the economic, scientific, technological,
environmental, managerial and social drivers that shape our sector. Our professionalism enables us to collaborate with a
range of partners to develop and share expertise, knowledge and technology.
More specific information on our activities is available on our website.
12

Overview

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Organisation chart

Director General
Rob Delane

Office of the Director General
Governance and Performance
Corporate Communications

Corporate Strategy
and Operations

Agricultural Resource
Risk Management

Regional Operations
and Development

Irrigated Agriculture
and Diversification

Grains Industry
Development

Livestock Industries
Development

Greg Paust

John Ruprecht

Peter Metcalfe

Terry Hill

Mark Sweetingham

Kevin Chennell

Finance

Border Biosecurity

People

Regulation and
Response

Central Agricultural
Region

Irrigated Agriculture
Innovation

Grains Industry
Development

Livestock Industry
Development

South West
Agricultural Region

Irrigated Agriculture
Industries
Development

Grains Innovation
Networks

Livestock Industries
Innovation

Grains Technology
and Innovation

Livestock Biosecurity

Assets
Information

Resource Risk Policy

Strategy and
Governance

Resources Risk
Assessment and
Mitigation

Business Systems
Improvement

Invasive Species
State NRM Office

Southern Agricultural
Region

Plant Biosecurity
Food and
Agribusiness
Development

Northern Agricultural
Region
Rangelands Region
Industry Economic
Performance
Trade Development

13

Overview

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Senior officers
Rob Delane, Director General: Before his appointment as Director General in November 2009, Rob was deputy secretary with the
Commonwealth Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry and has held a number of executive director positions with the
Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia. Rob has a wide range of regional, national and international experience, and
extensive knowledge and understanding of WA agriculture and the role of the department. He received a Public Service Medal in
2007 for outstanding service to the sector.
Greg Paust, Executive Director: Greg has more than 30
years’ experience in industry development and natural
resource management in the agriculture and fisheries
sectors. He has held a number of senior executive
positions, including executive director regional operations
and development with this department and director of
regional services with the Department of Fisheries.

Corporate Strategy and Operations: The directorate is committed to
ensuring DAFWA continually tests and refines its business model and
capacity to meet the evolving needs of government, industry and the
community. With key functions including the development of our people,
finances, strategy and governance — as well as improving our business
systems, facilities and information capabilities — we provide the suite of
resources needed for DAFWA to achieve its mission.

John Ruprecht, Executive Director: John has almost
30 years’ experience in natural resource management
spanning a range of senior management and policy
positions. His expertise covers water resource
assessment; engineering and remediation; urban
development; sustainable agriculture; and biosecurity.
John is a member of the National Groundwater Research
Training Advisory Board.

Agricultural Resource Risk Management: The directorate is committed
to ensuring land and water resources are available to meet future
industry needs. Our specialists promote the best management of risks
to our natural resources and the integrity of our agricultural products.
Our focus is on coordinating policy, training, legislation and emergency
response capabilities; providing leadership for sustainable management;
targeting investment in the productive and sustainable stewardship of
natural resources and biodiversity; and promoting animal welfare and
livestock identification compliance.

Peter Metcalfe, Executive Director: Peter’s farming
background and more than 25 years in various roles
in the department has provided him with a solid
understanding of the needs and opportunities of our
agrifood industries. He is committed to ensuring work
undertaken by DAFWA continually provides value to our
clients and enables vital industry development.

Regional Operations and Development: The directorate supports
regionally located facilities servicing the development needs of the
sector. Our functions include the delivery of integrated services and the
leadership of emergency incident management. Cross-sectoral functions
include industry profitability, and market and trade development.

14

Overview

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Terry Hill, Executive Director: Terry has extensive
experience in, and knowledge of, the horticultural and
irrigated agriculture industry in WA and Australia and has
held a number of senior positions within the department.
He has fulfilled several influential national roles, including
board positions. He has strong strategic and delivery
skills and enjoys working in partnership with industry.

Irrigated Agriculture and Diversification: The directorate undertakes
research, development, extension and regulation activities for the
irrigated agriculture, food and forestry industries. We have a strong
focus on driving agribusiness opportunities; reducing barriers;
encouraging and supporting local food producers; identifying biosecurity
risks; and promoting biosecurity practices.

Mark Sweetingham, A/Executive Director: Mark has
long involvement in the Australian grains industry and
is internationally recognised in crop protection, farming
systems, crop genetics and plant biosecurity. Throughout
his 30-year career, Mark has been passionate about
increasing the value of the grains industry, in partnership
with industry, through research, development and
innovation activities.

Grains Industry Development: The directorate works with the WA
grains industry to capitalise on opportunities and manage risks. We do
this through research, development and industry activities to improve
crop genetics, farm practices and business decision making; and by
interpreting economic and value-chain analyses to inform policy and
infrastructure development. We invest in and work with the Australian
Export Grains Innovation Centre, which seeks to increase market
competitiveness and returns to growers.

Kevin Chennell, Executive Director: A veterinarian
with qualifications in education and management,
Kevin worked in private practice and in a range of
senior government and industry roles before joining the
department in 2008. Kevin is passionate about leading
change and innovation, and building relationships with
industry.

Livestock Industries Development: The directorate supports sustainable
economic development through biosecurity surveillance and assurance;
and industry innovation, consultation, planning and leadership. Our
focus is on developing partnerships across supply chains, developing
appropriate infrastructure, increasing productivity and market
penetration, and promoting excellence.

15
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Administered legislation

Loans (Co-operative Companies) Act 2004

The Minister for Agriculture and Food is responsible for
administering the following Acts:

Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946

Aerial Spraying Control Act 1966

Perth Market Act 1926

Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Taxing) Act 1995

Royal Agricultural Society Act 1926

Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (WA) Act 1995

Royal Agricultural Society Act Amendment Act 1929

Agricultural Produce Commission Act 1988

Rural Business Development Corporation Act 2000

Agriculture and Related Resources Protection Act 1976

Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945

Animal Welfare Act 2002

Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003

Biological Control Act 1986

Veterinary Chemical Control Act 1976

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007

Veterinary Surgeons Act 1960

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Rates and
Charges Act 2007

Western Australian Meat Industry Authority Act 1976

Ord River Dam Catchment Area (Straying Cattle) Act 1967

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management (Repeal and
Consequential Provisions) Act 2007
Bulk Handling Act 1967
Exotic Diseases of Animals Act 1993
Gene Technology Act 2006
Genetically Modified Crops Free Areas Act 2003
Industrial Hemp Act 2004
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Other key legislation impacting on activities

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

The department complies with the following Acts in performing
its functions:

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Conservation and Land Management Act 1984

Occupiers Liability Act 1985

Contaminated Sites Act 2003

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

Poisons Act 1964

Disability Services Act 1993

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

Electoral Act 1907

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Electronic Transactions Act 2011

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Emergency Management Act 2005

State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004

Environmental Protection Act 1986

State Records Act 2000

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

State Superannuation Act 2000

Financial Management Act 2006

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Firearms Act 1973

Transfer of Land Act 1893

Forest Products Act 2000

Waterways Conservation Act 1976

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Wildlife Conservation Act 1950

Government Employees Housing Act 1964

Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Health Act 1911
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Land Administration Act 1997

17

Overview

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Performance management framework
Outcome-based management framework

Changes to our outcome-based
management framework

Our department contributes to two government goals —
“Stronger focus on the regions” and “Social and environmental
responsibility”. We seek to deliver one outcome: “A profitable,
innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits Western
Australia”; and we do this by way of three services. These are
shown – along with the indicators by which we assess our
performance – in Table 1 on page 19.

The department adopted a new outcome-based management
framework in April 2012; with changes to the government goals
we contribute to, the outcome we seek to achieve, the services
we deliver and the key performance indicators (KPIs) by which
we assess our performance. While these were used in our 2012
annual report, this is the first year that we will reported against
the entire new framework.

Our effectiveness in achieving this outcome – and our efficiency
in performing the services – are detailed in the Summary of key
performance indicators on page 29 and the Detailed information
in support of key performance indicators on page 123.

The new framework more accurately reflects our evolving role as
an economic development department and our vision as set out
in our Strategic Plan 2011–15.
Our three new services relate the types of change we seek to
foster within the agrifood sector — productivity uplift in those
industries still having potential to grow; transformation of
those that have reached maturity; and mitigating the risks that
would otherwise diminish both industry performance and the
environmental qualities of the state as a whole.
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Table 1 Outcomes-based management framework
Government goals
Stronger focus on
the regions
Greater focus on
service delivery,
infrastructure
investment
and economic
development
to improve the
overall quality of
life in remote and
regional areas
Social and
environmental
responsibility
Ensuring that
economic activity
is managed in
a socially and
environmentally
responsible manner
for the long-term
benefit of the state

Desired outcome

A profitable,
innovative and
sustainable
agrifood sector
that benefits
Western Australia

Effectiveness indicators

Services

1. Proportion of coinvestment in DAFWAled initiatives.

Business and supply chain
development:
Leadership and provision of
specialist expertise that further
develops the economic performance
of the state’s agrifood sector in the
short to medium term.

2. Proportion of
businesses that
consider DAFWA has
positively influenced
the profitability of the
sector.
3. Proportion of
businesses that
consider DAFWA has
fostered innovation in
the sector.
4. Proportion of
businesses and key
stakeholders that
consider DAFWA has
positively influenced
the sustainability of the
sector.

Transformational development:
Leadership and provision of
specialist expertise that aids
in transforming the long-term
economic growth of the state’s
agrifood sector.
Resource risk management:
Leadership and provision of
specialist expertise for the
assessment and promotion of best
practice for managing risks to
natural resources, biological assets
and product integrity such that the
state’s agrifood sector can grow and
its competitive advantages can be
maintained.

19

Efficiency indicators
1.1. Net service cost as a factor
of gross value of agricultural
production (GVAP).
1.2. Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
business and supply chain
initiatives as a factor of the net
cost of this service.
2.1. Net service cost as a factor
of GVAP.
2.2: Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
transformational development
initiatives as a factor of the net
cost of this service.
3.1. Net service cost as a factor
of GVAP.
3.2. Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
resource risk management
initiatives as a factor of the net
cost of this service.
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Shared responsibilities with other agencies
We work with a range of national, state and local agencies to serve the agriculture and food industries, related communities and the
state. This collaboration is a formally recognised part of our Stategic Plan. Our major shared responsibilities are outlined below.
Table 2 DAFWA’s shared responsibilities with other agencies
Area
Animal welfare

Beef industry development
European house borer
Emergency animal disease
Fertiliser use
Foot-and-mouth disease
Land information

Land inventories
Natural disaster
Natural resource management
Regulation of the use of
genetically modified organisms

Collaborating agencies
RSPCA; Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and
Forestry (DAFF); Animal Health Australia; state
agency jurisdictions
Queensland; Northern Territory; the Office of
Northern Australia
Forest Products Commission (FPC)
DAFF; Animal Health Australia; state agency
jurisdictions
Department of Water (DoW); Department of
Planning (DoP); Swan River Trust
National agencies
Department of Environment and Conservation
(DEC); DoW; Department of Fire and Emergency
Services (DFES); Landgate
Department of Regional Development (DRD);
DEC; DoP; local governments
DFES; WA Police
DEC; FPC; Department of Aboriginal Affairs; DoP;
DoW, Department of Fisheries
Australian Office of the Gene Technology
Regulator; Food Standards Australia New Zealand;
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines
Authority; other state government departments
20

Mechanisms
National animal welfare policies, standards and guidelines;
promoting livestock stewardship; inspectorial duties
Northern Beef Strategy; Indigenous participation; Indonesian
Strategy, Mosaic Agriculture Tenure Reform, logistics
European House Borer Program
Framework for shared funding and action in emergency
animal disease outbreaks and planning
Fertiliser Action Plan
Livestock Export Supply Chain Assurance Scheme;
preparedness in event of foot-and-mouth disease outbreak
Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP)

Kimberley and Nullarbor land inventories
Natural disaster relief and recovery
State Natural Resource Management Program
Regulation of all aspects of the use of genetically modified
organisms
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Table 2 cont.
Area
Royalties for Regions

Collaborating agencies
Bureau of Meteorology; DEC; DRD; DoW; DFES;
Regional Development Commissions

Women’s interests

DRD

Natural disaster relief
arrangements

DFES; WA Police; DEC; Main Roads; Department
for Child Protection; Department of Health;
Department of Local Government and
Communities; Water Corporation
DEC; FPC; WA Local Government Association
(WALGA)
DEC; DFES
LandCorp; DoP; South West Development
Commission

Myrtle rust
Wildfire response
South West Food Precinct

West Mundijong Industrial
Area
Plant biosecurity incident
response national

Shire of Serpentine Jarrahdale; DoP; LandCorp

Import pest risk analysis and
subsequent import conditions
Export of plant-based
commodities and related
equipment
National industry biosecurity
plans

DAFF; state/territory quarantine authorities;
industry; community
DAFF; state/territory quarantine authorities;
industry; community

DAFF; state/territory quarantine authorities;
industry; community

DAFF; state/territory quarantine authorities;
industry
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Mechanisms
Water, natural resource and wild dog management; regional
economic development; SuperTowns, Pilbara Cities; Men’s
Health
Rural, Remote and Regional Women’s Network
Coordination of natural disasters under the Western
Australian Natural Disaster Relief Arrangements (WANDRA)

Preparedness in event of myrtle rust infestation and Adopt a
Tree program
Bushfire and animal welfare response preparedness
Joint funding to progress site selection for the South West
Food Precinct within the context of the previous cross-agency
initiative “SW Industrial Land Strategy”
Progress planning and rezoning of the West Mundijong
Industrial Area to incorporate a food processing centre
Response to incursion of national and regional quarantine
pests. The state where the incursion occurs takes the lead;
however, incursion response involves liaison with all states,
territories and DAFF
Assessing and addressing national pest risks associated with
the import of plant commodities and associated equipment
Assessing and addressing regional pest risks associated with
plant commodities and associated equipment to markets in
other states, territories and countries
Identification of key industry national pests and development
of industry biosecurity plans
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Report on operations
Key achievements

Improving markets and trade

Key achievements for 2012/13 are reported under the four
investment priorities in our Strategic Plan 2011–15.

•

In collaboration with the Grains Research and Development
Corporation (GRDC), we officially opened the Australian
Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC) in November 2012
to support the trade and use of Australian grains across the
world (see case study, p. 141).

•

Through an industry-led group, we developed new market
options for African sheep breeds, in particular Damaras.
Trials proved there is a viable export option for these sheep
in carcase form in South-East Asia and the Middle East.

•

We introduced an enhanced program (the Asian Fresh
Strategy Stage 2 strategic framework) to increase exports of
selected WA products into Asia.

•

We helped establish the Invest–West Agribusiness Alliance,
comprising representatives of government, business and
universities, to stimulate and facilitate foreign investment in
WA’s agriculture and food sector.

Building industry capacity
•

We completed land and water surveys that helped facilitate
a $700 million investment in agricultural production in the
Kimberley as part of Stage 2 of the Ord–East Kimberley
Expansion Project (see case study, p. 134).

•

We completed soil survey fieldwork and the first stage
of groundwater investigations to assess the suitability of
Cockatoo Sands for irrigated agriculture as part of the
Stage 3 of the Ord–East Kimberley Expansion Project.

•

We modelled a new supply chain for WA’s dairy industry
to produce an extra 250 million litres of milk per annum for
export.

•

We delivered workshops on farm planning to 500
businesses to enable all members of the farm business to
build their skills and maximise profits, regardless of their
financial situation.

Improving long-term profitability

•

We installed 24 automatic weather stations in the southwest as part of a network of 70 across the state to help
local farm businesses and irrigators make more informed
decisions (see case study, p. 43).

•

We opened the second of our purpose-built New Genes for
New Environments facilities in Katanning in October 2012 to
accelerate the development of higher yielding, more resilient
and nutrient-efficient grain varieties.

•

As part of the Agrifood 2025+ initiative, we facilitated three
industry workshops that allowed key industry leaders to
identify the key risks, opportunities and the key ‘conditions
for success’ needed for the sector to grow and double the
real value of sales by 2025.

•

We helped increase WA’s flock by 400 000 through the
More Sheep Initiative, an industry-wide collaboration led by
DAFWA and the Sheep Industry Leadership Council (see
case study, p. 128).

•

We commercially released five new crop varieties, including
the oat Bannister, as a result of national partnerships.
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•

We formed a partnership with the Chamber of Commerce
and Industry of Western Australia (CCI) to provide
communication, policy development and support services
for the state’s food manufacturing industry.

•

We released a technical report, Soil groups of Western
Australia, in March 2013 to help farmers identify and
manage their soils for long-term profitability.

•

In collaboration with the GRDC, we identified a range of
drought tolerance traits in commercial wheat varieties at
managed environment facilities at Merredin (WA) and Yanco
and Narrabri (New South Wales).

Building a sustainable sector
•

We facilitated the introduction of the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Act 2007, which came into full
effect on 1 May 2013, strengthening WA’s defences against
pests and diseases (see case study, p. 41).

•

We completed an 820km upgrade of the State Barrier
Fence to keep wild dogs out of agricultural areas, helping
landholders maximise their production potential (see case
study, p. 45).

•

We successfully managed a range of pest and disease
incidents, including citrus gall wasp (see case study, p. 130),
mesquite in the Gascoyne, and the potential risk of bovine
Johne’s disease in the Kimberley.

Food and Agribusiness Development Director Stuart Clarke with
Lyn Bentley, Managing Director of Sticky Fingers Gourmet Foods,
where the DAFWA–CCI partnership was announced.
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Building DAFWA’s brand profile to support the sector
Ensuring WA agrifood businesses know what DAFWA’s role is and what
the department can do for them is vital to enable them to take advantage
of our resources and services.

Extensive research and consultation with industry, stakeholders and staff
revealed that DAFWA’s major asset is our people and their dedication to
helping businesses and industry succeed.

Over the past two years, we have worked on redeveloping our brand and
profile to promote our value to the sector in a contemporary, clear and
consistent way.

As a result, DAFWA developed and launched a new positioning statement
“Supporting your success” in August 2012.

‘Supporting your success’ makes a strong, clear
statement about what we do.
— Annabel Mazzella, DAFWA Corporate Communications Director
The simple statement encapsulates DAFWA’s focus on supporting the
success of, and creating value for, businesses all along the supply chain.
Accompanying the statement are images featuring our staff to help make
the contribution of the department and staff more visible to clients.
DAFWA built on our brand in March 2013 by launching an updated
design package.
Accompanying the refreshed external brand, the department established
a set of “oneDAFWA ways of working”.
oneDAFWA encompasses the behaviours valued by staff to ensure
success for themselves, their clients and partners, and the agrifood
sector as a whole.
Examples of our updated brand design.
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Financial targets
Table 3 Financial targets 2012/13
2012/13
Target
$000

2012/13
Actual
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(details from Statement of comprehensive income)

226,799

199,117

Net cost of services
(details from Statement of comprehensive income)

154,672

150,365

Total equity
(details from Statement of financial position)

302,970

300,842

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
(details from Statement of cash flows)
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level
1. Further

(4,519)

(8,730)

1,285

1,162

explanations are contained in Note 39 of the financial statements.
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Variation(1) Explanation of variation
$000
The 12% decrease in expenditure reflects an overall
(27,682)
reduction in Employee Benefits, Supplies and
Services and Grants and Subsidies expenses.
The 2.9% decrease reflects a decline in
(4,307)
Commonwealth and non-government sourced grant
income with a respective reduction in expenditure.
A decrease of 0.07% is reflective of the decline in
the department’s surplus for the period ending 30
(2,128)
June 2013, resulting in diminishing cash balances.
However, the department’s total assets have increased
to $356 million.
The variance to target is a result of the utilisation
(4,211)
of cash held in the form of capital investment and
project completions.
(123)
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Financial performance
Operating result

Figure 1 Total revenue and expenses 2008–2013

The operating deficit for the year was $9.4 million ($2.4 million
surplus for 2011/12). The result represents an overall reduction
in expenditure together with a greater decrease in income
related to grants from subsidies and non-government sources
as well as service appropriations and the Royalties for Regions
Fund.

350 000

Total actual revenue

300 000

Total actual expenses

Dollars (AUD)

250 000

Equity: what we’re worth
Equity is net worth, which is calculated by what we ‘own’ (total
assets of $356 million) less what we ‘owe’ (total liabilities of $55
million). At 30 June 2013, our equity was $301 million.

200 000
150 000
100 000
50 000
0

Assets: what we own
At 30 June 2013, we had total assets of $356 million – a 1%
increase on 2011/12. Property, plant and equipment account for
63% of our assets.

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Figure 2 Sources of funding
Commonwealth
grants and
contributions
0.7%

Revenue: where the dollars came from
Our operating revenues for 2013 totalled $190 million. The
decrease of 13% ($29 million) over the previous year is largely
the result of reduced grants and subsidies and non-government
sources together with a reduced service appropriation and
funding from Royalties for Regions. While the state government
remains our major source of funding, other sources are the
Australian government, a range of industry sources (including
various industry research and development corporations) and
fees for services rendered.

Revenue from
state government
74%

26

Interest
0.3%

Non-government grants
and subsidies
11%
Fees and charges
6%
Other revenue
8%
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Expenses: how the dollars were spent

Liabilities: what we owe

Our total operating expenses for 2013 were $199.1 million
across our services. The decrease of 8.1% ($17.5 million) over
the previous year is largely the result of reduced employee
benefits expense and supplies and services. Our main areas of
expenditure were our people, contracts and grants.

At 30 June 2013, we had total liabilities of $55.3 million – a
decrease of 4.3% over the previous year. Payables and
provisions (largely associated with accrued salaries and annual
and long service leave liabilities) are our main liabilities.
Figure 5 Leave liability 2008–2013

Figure 3 Expenditure by service

11.5
Average weeks per employee

Transformational
development
10%

Business and supply
chain development
53%

Resource risk
management
37%

11
10.5
10
9.5
9
8.5
8

Figure 4 Main areas of expenditure 2013
Depreciation
5%
Grants and
subsidies
5%

Other
2%

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Leave liability
Enhanced reporting has provided for more accurate accounting
of our long service and annual leave liability, with an average
of 10.15 weeks per employee at 30 June 2013. This has
decreased from an average of 10.37 weeks per employee the
previous year. Management initiatives that commenced in
January 2010 should see this reduced significantly by the end of
2013/14.

Employees
59%

Supplies
and services
29%
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Key financial ratios
Financial ratios provide a useful snapshot of the department’s financial status and trends, and measure our performance in achieving
financial management objectives.
Table 4 Key financial ratios
Ratio and formula
Working capital
Current assets v. current liabilities

Measure description
Our ability to meet
current commitments

2012/13
1.22 times

2011/12
1.34 times

Government contribution
Income other than state government
v. income from state government
Labour ratio
Labour expenses v. total expenses
Net worth movement
Current year equity v. prior year
equity
Current asset movement
Current year current assets v. prior
year current assets
Current liabilities movement
Current year current liabilities v.
prior year current liabilities

Our dependence on
state government
revenue

35%

41%

Our commitment to
staff

59%

57%

Growth in net assets

1.02 times

1.02 times

Growth in current
assets

87%

127%

The decline in the department’s current assets is
attributable to a reduction in the amount of cash held.

Growth in current
liabilities

96%

127%

This ratio has returned to a more normal level with an
overall reduction in payables.
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Interpretation of result
Although the ratio has declined in general terms, the
department is able to meet current commitments as
and when they fall due.
The department’s reliance on the state government for
revenue remains fairly consistent.
This ratio has remained constant in line with an overall
reduction in total expenses.
The net worth remains unchanged.
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Summary of key performance indicators (KPIs)
DAFWA implemented a new outcome and services in 2012/13, bringing them into line with our new KPIs introduced in 2011/12.
These are introduced on page 18, with the targets and results achieved outlined in Table 5.
Table 5 Key effectiveness and efficiency indicator targets, results and variations
Outcome: A profitable, innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits Western Australia
Key effectiveness indicators
Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has positively influenced profitability (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered innovation (%)
Proportion of businesses and key stakeholders that consider DAFWA has positively influenced the
sustainability of the sector (%)
Service 1 Business and supply chain development
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of gross value of agricultural production (GVAP) (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service
as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
Service 2 Transformational development
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service
as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
Service 3 Resource risk management
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service
as a factor of the net cost of this service (%)
1.

2012/13
Target

2012/13
Actual

Variation (1)

35.1
32.0
32.0
35.0

39.3
29.3
30.0
32.1

4.2
–2.7
–2.0
–2.9

1.3
40.7

1.22
42.6

–0.08
1.9

0.2
25.6

0.23
23.4

0.03
–2.2

1.3
31.3

0.90
38.8

–0.40
7.5

Variations between target and actual results are explained in Note 39 “Explanatory statement” to the financial statements.
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Summary of outcomes, services and
performance indicators

Supporting information regard our
effectiveness

Our new outcome statement and services better reflect our
emerging role as an economic development department; and
our new efficiency indicators enable us to benchmark our
expenditure against the value of the sector.

We assess our effectiveness in achieving our outcome of a
“profitable, innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that
benefits Western Australia” by way of four performance
indicators, three of which ask industry participants to assess the
extent to which the department has improved their profitability,
sustainability and innovativeness over the past 12 months.

Three of our new effectiveness indicators help us address a
long-standing problem we have had in accurately assessing our
impact on agrifood businesses.

This approach addresses the problem of being able to attribute
changes seen in the sector to our work, as outlined above.

This problem stems from the fact that we seek to achieve most
of our impact by influence rather than by legislation, but we are
not the only source of influence on the sector. As such, it has
been hard to prove, in an audit sense, that changes seen in the
sector are a result of our work.

These assessments, which are gained by way of an annual
survey detailed on page 124, are further supported by the
following outline of the types of products, services and
mechanisms by which we sought to create that influence.

Three of the four new effectiveness KPIs are designed to
alleviate this problem by asking industry participants to
assess the extent to which the department has improved their
profitability, sustainability and innovativeness over the past 12
months — these being the central qualities of our outcome.

Our other effectiveness indicator — which relates to the extent
of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives — is not subject to
attribution difficulties and, as such, does not need a supporting
narrative.

We support these assessments with additional evidence and
observations that illustrate the types of products, services and
mechanisms by which we sought to create that influence. This
additional evidence is discussed below under each KPI, with
detailed results being discussed under ‘Detailed information in
support of key performance indicators’ on page 123.
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Supporting information to Effectiveness Indicator 2:
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has positively influenced profitability
This KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the profitability of their industry over the previous 12 months. It helps us
assess and understand our effectiveness in fostering the profitability of the sector as a whole.

Understanding our supply and value chains

Our first results for this KPI, reported in the 2012 Annual report,
were obtained through a survey in April 2012. Thirty per cent
of the 515 producers, processors, marketers, exporters and
agricultural consultants surveyed said we had had a significant
positive impact over the past year on the profitability of their
industry.

The success of any value chain lies in all members along
the chain contributing to, and gaining from, its value. We are
focused on ensuring the sector understands the issues facing
these chains for each of our major agricultural industries.
We recently delivered a number of analyses ranging from an
overarching study of the beef industry to a product-specific
study on the production, handling and marketing of bananas.

This year’s survey produced a similar result, with 29% of the 306
businesses surveyed saying we had made a significant impact
over the past year. Some of our capabilities and deliverables
that contributed to our influence on profitability are outlined
below.

Building strategic value chain alliances
We built a number of alliances with industry, regulators
and innovators at local and international levels, with a key
achievement being the formal incorporation of the Australian
Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC) in November 2012 (see
case study, p. 141).

The higher number surveyed in 2012 was due to the broader
scope of that survey, with a number of issues, unrelated to
performance indicators, requiring greater segregation of results.

Supporting farm business planning

A not-for-profit company owned by the Western Australian
Government and the GRDC, AEGIC coordinates Australia’s
grains research and development effort. AEGIC’s work program,
funded by the GRDC and the CSIRO, focuses on economic
analysis, market intelligence, grain quality, biosecurity and
processing technology. It is expected to generate economywide benefits of about $390 million by 2023.

In addition to the 600 farm businesses that benefited from our
Plan, Prepare and Prosper workshops in 2011/12, a further 133
took part in the workshops this financial year. The workshops
help farmers assess their financial situation and prospects,
especially in regard to climate variability.
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Lifting on-farm productivity and profitability

Their adoption is expected to help rebuild this industry,
increasing the rotational and market options available to grain
growers.

In 2012/13, we helped grain growers make the most of precious
rainfall by developing a decision-support tool that lets growers
determine the best option for minimising water repellence in
their individual soil types and circumstances.

Similarly, the release in September 2012 of our new Amira lupin
variety offers a superior level of resistance to the fungus that
causes anthracnose disease in lupin crops, further increasing
the options available to growers.

Similarly, our work in establishing a network of automatic
weather stations, and the funding streams needed to operate
and maintain them, enables landholders to make better
decisions about their production (and land management)
programs. Funded in part by the Royalties for Regions program,
the expanded and more sophisticated network now offers
landholders — and the community as a whole — a significantly
greater ability to assess the immediate and medium-term
outlook in terms of rainfall, soil moisture, frost risk and other
weather features (see case study, p. 43). The power of this
information is best exemplified by our Statistical Seasonal
Forecasts (SSF) website.

Our discoveries about the interrelationships between the preharvest sprouting tolerance of different barley varieties and the
malting quality of the resultant grain also provide susceptible
growers with important information (see case study, p. 34).

Enhancing the sector’s profile
The prosperity of industries within the sector depends partially
on the extent to which they are recognised and regarded by the
broader community. We undertook two significant programs
over the past year aimed at building community recognition of
the agrifood sector. The first of these built on the theme of 2012
as “The Year of the Farmer”, offering free entry for children at
the Perth Royal Show and regional agricultural shows, with our
displays being refocused on educating children about where
food comes from.

It also enables us to publish more accurate maps of potential
grain yield for delivery via our website, with a drill-down facility
to show soil water and yields at the individual station level.

Delivering more profitable cropping options
This year saw the introduction of two new varieties of chickpea
— Neelam and Ambar — bred by DAFWA and the University of
Western Australia. These varieties are highly significant in that
they offer, for the first time, resistance to the ascochyta blight
fungal disease that wiped out the chickpea industry in the late
1990s.

Using a series of mini-farm and cooking demonstrations, we
attracted 15 000 visitors to our display at the 2012 Perth Royal
Show; and gained the participation of 58 of the 60 regional
shows.
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Similarly, we built on the concept of “an organisation’s brand
being its values in action” by implementing a “oneDAFWA ways
of working” initiative among our own staff. This simple program
is now helping staff members better understand their individual
roles in supporting and promoting the sector as a whole (see
case study, p. 24).

Our oneDAFWA ways of working

1.

We promote our vision

2.

We lead by example

3.

We innovate to advance industry

Gathering and analysing industry and market
intelligence

4.

We work collaboratively

The success of any industry’s development depends in large
part on good-quality information and analysis. We work
with industry to identify and assess the underlying drivers,
constraints and opportunities that dictate their necessary
development pathways.

5.

We listen, support and value others

6.

We build knowledge and networks

7.

We communicate success

A key example this year was in publishing a series of value chain
analyses that assessed the business drivers for the tomato,
potato, carrot and brassica industries. We identified two key
profit drivers: export marketing and domestic demand, with a
10% increase in exports generating an 8.5% increase in grower
income; and a 10% increase in domestic demand generating a
7.5% increase. Conversely, the model showed that increasing
productivity offered little benefit: a 10% increase lifting incomes
by only 3%.
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Better barley genetics boost industry profitability
Grain growers could save tens of millions of dollars a year through a
DAFWA-led project that aims to reduce or even eliminate defects in
varieties of Australian malting barley.

combinations necessary to increase malt extract — a fundamental driver
in the profitability of the malting and brewing industry.
The research also identified a set of markers that can detect germplasm
with desirable balanced traits, including pre-harvest sprouting tolerance
and malting quality, in different climatic conditions.

Genetic analysis by researchers working on the Barley Quality project,
which was completed in 2012/13, discovered barley grown under
Australian conditions requires a finer balance between malting quality
and pre-harvest sprouting tolerance in comparison to varieties grown
overseas.

The potential for new malting barley varieties signals
great opportunity for WA’s export barley industry.
— Richard Price, Managing Director, Australian Grains Export Innovation
Centre (AEGIC)
This finding will guide development of barley varieties that combine
acceptable malting qualities and adequate protection against adverse
Australian conditions at harvest.
The discovery was one of a number of findings of the joint DAFWA–
GRDC project that could lead to increased profitability and yields
associated with malting barley.
Led by DAFWA’s Dr Chengdao Li, the project involved genetic mapping of
part of a barley chromosome to identify the candidate genes that affect
barley quality traits and defect levels.
The mapping created a better understanding of traits responsible for
seed dormancy and pre-harvest sprouting as well as desirable gene

DAFWA’s Chengdao Li and Research Officer Sharon Westcott undertaking
barley research at the Murdoch labs.
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Supporting information to Indicator 3:
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered innovation
The success of all industries is linked to their innovativeness, which we consider to be about “making changes that add value”.
We see our role in this regard as being a catalyst for industry in stimulating its own innovation and adaptive change, with a focus
on the areas of greatest opportunity and risk.
This KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact on their capacity to make such changes. Some of our capabilities and
deliverables by which we increased their innovativeness are outlined below:

Gathering and analysing industry and market
intelligence

We are also modernising our research facilities, replacing
those that are outmoded with more relevant facilities such as
the genetic and environment testing facilities at Merredin and
Katanning, all of which are available to our private and public
sector partners.

We work with industry and others to identify and assess
the drivers and constraints that shape our major production
industries. Recent examples include studies on the profitability
of different lamb production systems, and of grain production
under various pricing scenarios. We also assessed development
opportunities for the northern beef industry, which led to the
recommissioning of a small-ruminant abattoir at Gingin and
plans for a new beef abattoir in the Kimberley.

Additionally, we are continually looking for ways to improve our
diagnostic and analytical capabilities, such as our new land-use
planning tool. This tool enables us to integrate land-capability
and water-resource information in a way that helps planners
identify key agricultural production areas in local rural planning
policies (see case study, p. 37)

Modernising our research, development and extension
strategies

Building skills across industry and the department

We strongly support the National Primary Industries Research
Development and Extension Framework. This national initiative,
developed through the Primary Industries Standing Committee,
enables us to strengthen our overall capability, better address
cross-sector issues and reduce capability gaps and duplication.
Our department is recognised under the framework as the
national leader in regard to wool and grains.

We continue to deliver and support development courses and
aids for producers; key examples include our Planning for Profit
farm planning workshops and annual Crop Update series, the
latter expanded last year to include a record 16 regional events.
We complement this by building our own skills, both in terms
of being better able to help industry and in improving our own
business processes.
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Helping producers understand their options

A combination of consumer research and expert assessments
was used to pinpoint five new varieties with high market
potential. The prospects for these varieties in the WA industry
are now being explored with market and supply chain
stakeholders.

Land managers must continually consider new production
options that might offer greater profitability or resilience. We
support them by providing well-informed and impartial analyses
of the options, such as by providing information on the risks and
opportunities offered by carbon farming.

Helping industries set their own direction

Funded under the Royalties for Regions program, this work
enabled us to launch a carbon farming website in June 2013 and
deliver 16 fact sheets to industry and stakeholder groups.

While governments play a significant role in enabling industries
to develop and prosper, individual businesses ultimately need to
set their own course.

This information enables landholders and farmers to make
informed decisions regarding what carbon farming offers their
individual businesses.

To this end, we aim to support industries in establishing their
own strategic direction. An important example this year was
to support the WA pork industry to develop and endorse a
strategic plan for its own future.

Similarly, our field trials at Kununurra provided industry with
important information on potential new rice crops suitable for
the region, including the extent to which different varieties are
resistant to fungal rust and rice blast diseases; and in identifying
varieties able to tolerate the colder conditions associated with
potential dry-season production.

The industry has already used this plan in their planning for
2013/14, and we are working to ensure our own efforts are
aligned with the priority areas in the plan.

Enabling new initiatives
The establishment of any major new production or processing
capability is rightfully subject to credible evidence that harmful
changes will not result.

Tapping new and changing market preferences
There is little point in being able to produce more of a product if
it is not what today’s — or tomorrow’s — market is looking for.
We support industry by identifying new product types that are
geared to our target markets. A key example over the past year
has been our work with establishing the market acceptance of a
range of potential new wine grape varieties.

As a case in point, Commonwealth approval to extend the
Ord River irrigation area into the Weaber Plain to the north of
Kununurra was contingent on showing that the hydrogeology,
ground and surface water characteristics and soils of the area
were suited to such an expansion.
During 2012/13, we undertook the necessary soil and water
resource assessments upon which environmental approval was
granted, enabling development to proceed.
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Helping planners identify high-quality land
We have developed and tested a new method to identify high-quality
agricultural land for future development.

In 2012/13, DAFWA piloted the methodology in the Geraldton Planning
Region, producing a 226-page technical report containing maps of the
region and associated data.

The method integrates land-capability data with water-resource data to
produce easy-to-interpret maps that help planners to identify important
agricultural areas in local rural planning policies.

HQAL is enabling the City of Greater Geraldton to better
match land and water resources with appropriate land use,
and reduce land-use conflict through evidence-based decision
making. — Murray Connell, Planning Manager, City of Greater Geraldton

The method was developed as part of the High Quality Agricultural Land
(HQAL) project.

The City of Greater Geraldton used the report to zone agricultural areas
in its South Greenough to Cape Burney Coastal Planning Strategy to
prevent subdivision and non-agricultural development.
Previous land-capability maps were often difficult to interpret, leading to
poor planning decisions and, in some cases, the loss of good agricultural
land.
The HQAL project involved working with planners to ensure the new
methodology could produce maps and information sheets that were easy
to interpret.
The maps rank a region’s most productive and versatile resources. With
this information, planners can make evidence-based decisions to protect
agricultural land and, in the long term, facilitate agricultural growth.
Stage 2 of the HQAL project will involve using the new mapping method
in other Mid West shires, including Morawa, Perenjori, Mingenew, Three
Springs, Carnamah and Coorow.

DAFWA developed a new method of identifying high-quality agricultural land.
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Supporting information to Indicator 4:
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has positively influenced the sustainability of the sector
WA’s diverse landscape and climatic conditions support a wide range of agricultural industries. Our aim is to ensure the sector
uses best management practices to sustain the land, soil, native vegetation, biodiversity and water for long-term economic
development.
This KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the sustainability of their industry over the previous 12 months. Some
of the capabilities and deliverables that support our argument that the changes seen by industry are the result of our work are
outlined below.

Having the ability to influence

We work with industry to increase understanding of the
strengths and weaknesses of the physical environment in which
they operate; and how best to benefit from, and safeguard, that
environment. In 2012/13, we produced whole-farm nutrients
maps for 150 grazing properties across the high-rainfall
south-west as part of our commitment to the state’s Fertiliser
Partnership Agreement.

We are influential because of our unique position within industry,
rural communities and government, and because of our
particular range of skills and facilities.
As WA’s lead natural resource management (NRM) agency
and convenor of the State NRM Office, we play a pivotal role
in developing and implementing regional NRM strategies and
promoting the adoption of best management practices. We
also provide expert support to regional NRM groups, land
conservation committees and local governments. Working
with other governmental and research agencies, such as the
DEC and the Future Farm Industries CRC, we have a strong
involvement in building NRM capabilities.

It is anticipated this work will result in reduced phosphate
fertiliser use on the Swan Coastal Plain, leading to reduced
waterway contamination and increased profitability of grazing
systems.

Building industry’s ability to address risks
As most decisions faced by land managers are made at the
individual enterprise level, they need sound analytical and
decision-making skills as much as good information. We are
well placed to establish and support the regional, industry and
catchment-based groups that are, in turn, best placed to help
individual land managers select the best solutions for their
circumstances.

Ensuring appropriate land use and management
Like all industries, agricultural production and processing must
be undertaken with due care and regard for the capabilities of
the natural resources on which it relies.
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Our effectiveness in this regard was helped considerably by the
implementation of the Biosecurity and Agricultural Management
Act 2007, the final regulations of which came into full effect in
May 2013 (see case study, p. 41).

Our facilities and staff are recognised and registered with all
appropriate authorities, such as the National Association of
Testing Authorities and the Australian Quarantine and Inspection
Service (AQIS).

Ensuring product traceability and integrity

Accommodating a changing and more variable climate

The ability to trace the origin and movement of livestock and
livestock products is critical to managing disease risks and
meeting market expectations about provenance and product
integrity.

With an increased drying trend over the past 10 years affecting
the economic viability of farms, we established a further 24
automated weather stations in the south-west of the state,
complementing the 45 stations we established across the
wheatbelt in the previous year (see case study, p. 43).

Our mandatory livestock identification and movement recording
system (as well as the auditing of saleyards, abattoirs and
export depots) enables WA businesses to fulfil both of these
needs. Our capabilities in these areas also allow us to be a
significant player in the development of national policies that
might otherwise be unsuited or detrimental to WA.

In combination with the Statistical Seasonal Forecasts website
we initiated in the previous year, this provides a comprehensive
network that offers significant value to industry and the broader
community.
Our data helps the Bureau of Meteorology in its forecasting
and is being linked into decision-making tools such as Yield
Prophet® that help growers lift their productivity.

Similarly, our expertise in the use and management of
agricultural and veterinary (agvet) chemicals has enabled us
to contribute strongly to the development in 2012/13 of the
national framework for agvet chemical regulation and funding
and to collaborate with the WA Department of Health in
implementing the agreed reform steps in WA.

Mitigating risks in the community and other industries
Pests such as European wasps and rainbow lorikeets have
the potential to reduce public amenity; and diseases such as
Hendra virus can represent a significant threat to public health.
As the lead agency for averting such threats, we have the skills
and resources needed to respond to incursions and outbreaks
of high-priority, community-based risks.

Having an appropriate analytical capability
Western Australia’s relative freedom from exotic weeds, pests
and diseases benefits us all in terms productivity, public health,
amenity and the preservation of our native flora and fauna.
To maintain this freedom, we need to be able to identify and
pinpoint incursions as soon as possible — and that requires
highly sophisticated and responsive analytical capacity. Our
animal and plant diagnostic laboratories offer that capability.
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The service includes road checkpoints at Eucla and Kununurra,
inspections of trains coming from interstate, and inspection
of passengers and luggage at Perth Domestic, Broome,
Kununurra, Karratha and Kalgoorlie airports.

For example, starlings are a major threat to agriculture and
the environment, with the potential to infest WA’s primary
production regions if they progress beyond their current foothold
near the South Australian border. Listed as one of the world’s
worst invasive species, they are also a potential disease risk and
public nuisance causing damage to buildings, vehicles, fences,
roads and equipment.

These measures have prevented a large number of pests and
diseases from entering and establishing in WA. Examples
include codling moth (pome fruit), Queensland fruitfly, oriental
fruit moth, potato cyst nematode, bacterial wilt of tomato,
banana bunchy top and grape phylloxera.

We run a highly successful risk-based targeted surveillance,
monitoring and control program aimed at eradicating starling
incursions into WA agricultural areas, with additional support
as needed in other areas, including potential migration areas
in South Australia. A total of 117 starlings were controlled in
2012/13 – 59 in South Australia, 55 at Eucla/Nullarbor and three
in the Esperance to Hopetoun region.

Over the past 10 years there has been a (2012/13 figures in
brackets):

We also continued our commitment to stopping European
wasps from becoming established in WA. Common in the
eastern states, the wasps can ruin the enjoyment of outdoor
events and inflict fatal multiple stings. In 2012/13, border
biosecurity and pest surveillance staff destroyed 39 nests, all in
the Perth area. We also conducted weekly surveillance on 550
traps in Perth, plus another 320 were maintained by volunteers
in Perth and high-risk country areas as part of our Adopt-a-trap
program.

Quarantine WA
Our Quarantine WA service continued to protect Western
Australia’s agriculture, environment and lifestyle in 2012/13 by
conducting inspections for quarantine risk material at entry
points for private travellers and commercial clients arriving from
interstate.
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•

55% increase in interstate flights into WA (17 599 flights)

•

60% increase in passengers on interstate flights into Perth
(2 669 141 passengers)

•

7% increase in interstate freight containers (179 759
containers)

•

97% increase in imported interstate plant lines that must be
inspected (142 826 lines).

•

44% decrease in imported interstate livestock numbers (11
413 stock)

•

20% increase in the number of vehicles entering the state
through road checkpoints (120 134 vehicles)

•

36% increase in quarantine risk material seized (41 611kg)

•

48% decrease in significant intercepts of plant pests and
diseases (52 intercepts).
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Getting our Act together on biosecurity
Western Australia’s defences against pests and diseases were
strengthened with regulations under the Biosecurity and Agriculture
Management Act 2007 (BAM Act) coming into full effect on 1 May 2013.

The full implementation of the BAM Act and its subsidiary
legislation ... will support the delivery of effective biosecurity
into the future during times of increasing risk. — Emeritus

The BAM Act replaces 16 older Acts and 27 sets of regulations with one
inclusive Act and eight sets of regulations, enhancing protection of the
state’s $6 billion agrifood sector and the environment.

Professor Alan Robson, Chair of the Biosecurity Council of Western Australia

Since the BAM Act was passed by Parliament in October 2007, we
have worked extensively with community, industry and government
stakeholders, through regular meetings and workshops, to have all
sections of the Act and regulations proclaimed.
The Act modernises the law and removes inconsistencies between
previous legislation to better serve business and the community.
It provides for the formation of the Biosecurity Council of Western
Australia to advise DAFWA and its Minister on biosecurity policy, and
Recognised Biosecurity Groups in the state’s rangelands to combat pests
and diseases adversely affecting the profitability of agriculture.
It will also lead to the formation of Industry Funding Scheme management
committees for cattle, sheep, goat, grains, seeds and hay to provide
direction to help industry better combat biosecurity threats.
DAFWA also launched a revised biosecurity website on 1 May 2013 that
publishes information to support the control and management of declared
pests and other organisms via the Western Australian Organism List.
One final set of regulations (Infringements) has been drafted and is set to
be gazetted early in the 2013/14 financial year.

DAFWA staff Neil Steventon, Alain Baillard, Luke Morgan and Alex Bergin
were involved in the development of the revised biosecurity website.
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Current and emerging issues and trends
Several ongoing issues and forces continued to direct DAFWA’s efforts in supporting the success of WA’s agriculture and food
sector in 2012/13. These posed challenges for how the department could create the most value, particularly in an environment of
constrained resources across government and many businesses.

Changing climate and weather patterns

Growing global demand for food

We spent considerable resources helping WA farm businesses
to survive and adapt to a drying climate and more unpredictable
and extreme weather events.

Expanding economies in developing countries, particularly in
Asia, will result in millions more people being able to afford and
seek greater quantities and quality of food. At the same time,
growing populations and limited arable land and production
capability are forcing these countries to find reliable external
suppliers to ensure food security.

At the start of the 2013 cropping season, some farm businesses
— particularly in the eastern wheatbelt — were struggling
to plant a crop, having been affected by an unprecedented
sequence of seasonal events, including drought and frosts.

These new markets on our doorstep present great opportunities
for WA but the state’s agrifood industries are not yet ready to
realise the potential.

In response, a $7.8 million State Assistance Package was
announced to support businesses and communities. DAFWA,
through the Rural Business Development Corporation, worked
quickly to administer the assistance measures. By 30 June
2013, we had approved 140 applications for financial support
grants.

As part of the Agrifood 2025+ initiative, DAFWA brought
together key industry representatives from across the sector to
develop and implement a long-term, industry-led shared action
plan to help WA to capture these opportunities by building
productivity, skills and profitability throughout the agriculture
and food supply system.

Additionally, we delivered workshops on farm planning to more
than 500 businesses in 2012/13 to assist farm businesses in
building their resilience and capacity to grow.

Participants agreed to a target of doubling the real value of the
sector’s sales by 2025, which will require an increase in both
the level of production and unit value of its products. In coming
years, the department will develop increasingly targeted
programs to achieve both of these in key growth markets and
select product lines.

We are also developing systems and tools that enable producers
to better understand and adapt to changing weather, including
installing 24 automatic weather stations in the south-west (see
case study, p. 43).
We are also helping to develop more drought-tolerant grain
varieties, including through the opening of our second New
Genes for New Environments facility in Katanning in October
2012.

DAFWA also completed a pre-feasibility study, investigating
options for expanding the local dairy industryto produce and
extra 250 million litres of milk a year for export.
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New weather stations improve decisions
The installation of 24 automatic weather stations in the south-west in 2012/13 has
increased the availability of critical weather information to farmers, regional communities
and emergency services.
The weather stations, jointly funded through Royalties for Regions, are part of the state
government’s $560 000 initiative to install 70 new automatic weather stations across the
wheatbelt and south-west. Sixty-five were up and running at 30 June 2013.

The new weather stations were a great asset during the last fire
season and all local stations were used to great effect.
— Richard Ryan, Department of Fire and Emergency Services Fire Officer, Geraldton
The availability of near real-time data, which reports to the department’s website every
10 minutes, will enable primary producers to make more informed decisions that directly
affect the financial operations of their farm business.
Using reliable weather information and yield prediction tools such as Yield Prophet®,
producers can better time decisions around spraying, fertilising and irrigation, thereby
reducing costs and increasing yields, which can increase profits by up to 10%.
DAFWA staff are able to use the information to determine the extent of seasonal incidents
such as dry seasons, floods and frosts.
The stations also provide accurate historical and predictive data that are used to set up
commercial multi-peril crop insurance schemes, which protect farm businesses against
crop losses due to multiple natural disasters.
Local weather information can also assist emergency services, especially during the bush
fire season, enabling them to develop response strategies and inform at-risk communities.
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DAFWA Research Officer Ian Foster with one of the new
automatic weather stations.
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Competitive markets

The taskforce, made up of a wide variety of DAFWA and industry
representatives, met with state, federal and international bodies
and worked with industry to ensure a quick resumption of live
export shipping. There were no further issues with unloading
stock overseas for the rest of the year.

Increasing global trade in food is creating strong competition
from imported goods as well as exports, including from low-cost
producing countries such as Argentina and the Ukraine.
While the value of the Australian dollar against foreign currencies
started falling towards the end of 2012/13, it was high for most
of the year, making WA’s commodities expensive compared to
other countries. As a result, DAFWA continued to focus on the
quality of WA products to attract premium prices in overseas
markets.

Pest and disease threats
With trade, transport and urbanisation increasing, we continued
to work closely with industry and the community to protect WA’s
agrifood industries, community and environment from exotic
pests, weeds and diseases. A highlight was the implementation
of the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
regulations to better prevent pests and diseases from entering
and spreading within WA (see case study, p. 41).

The Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC), which
was established in November 2012, will drive the competitive
advantages of Australian grains in the international marketplace
(see case study, p. 141).

We also responded quickly and effectively to several disease
outbreaks and potential outbreaks, managing exclusions for
avian influenza, Hendra virus and bat lyssavirus in production
animals. We also effectively managed the risk of bovine Johne’s
disease (BJD) on five trace-forward properties in the Kimberley
following detection of BJD on a Queensland cattle stud.

To facilitate targeted inward-bound investment into the supply
chain, we worked with the Chamber of Commerce and Industry
to form the Invest–West Agribusiness Alliance, due to be
officially launched in August 2013.

Live exports

Additionally, we upgraded the existing State Barrier Fence (see
case study, p. 45) and controlled the spread of declared weeds,
mesquite and parkinsonia in Carnarvon.

The live exports issue raised its head again in 2012/13. A
temporary hold-up on the export of sheep to the Middle East
in late 2012 created anxiety in the sheep industry and caused
sheep prices to fall.
As a result, DAFWA mobilised the WA Live Exports Taskforce to
assist the industry and improve communication to producers.
We used the same model that was used during the ban on live
cattle exports to Indonesia in 2011.
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Fence upgrade protects livestock
Wild dogs will cause less destruction to livestock in the state’s southwest after DAFWA completed an 820km upgrade of the State Barrier
Fence in February 2013.
The two-year upgrade involved the installation of lapwire along the
112-year-old, 1170km-long fence — from the Shire of Yilgarn in the
south to the Zuytdorp Cliffs near Kalbarri in the north.

It wasn’t until we received the support of government
through the upgrade to the State Barrier Fence ... that
we were finally able to reduce dog numbers.
— Jim Sullivan, Chair of Eastern Wheatbelt Declared Species Group
The lapwire acts like a tensioned wire skirt to prevent kangaroos and wild
dogs from digging underneath.
The improved fence complements other measures to minimise the
impact of wild dogs on livestock in the agricultural region, providing
estimated benefits of $4.4 million per year.
The successful upgrade was thanks to the efforts of DAFWA’s Invasive
Species State Barrier Fence project team and the hard work of the fence
contractors who worked in tough conditions.
Contractors also graded the existing track on the outside of the fence to
improve access for our staff and doggers undertaking wild dog control
activities.
The upgrade was funded through the Royalties for Regions program and
involved the Department of Regional Development.

Lapwire has been installed along the length of the State Barrier Fence to
keep wild dogs out of agricultural areas.
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Financial statements
Certification of financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2013
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food have been prepared in compliance with the
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the
financial year ended 30 June 2013 and the financial position as at 30 June 2013.
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements
misleading or inaccurate.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority (Director General)
Agriculture and Food WA
26 September 2013

Joe Murgia
Chief Finance Officer
Agriculture and Food WA
26 September 2013
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Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement
of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service,
and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, including Administered transactions and balances.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit
was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating
to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Page 1 of 4
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I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Department of Agriculture and Food at 30 June 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
Matter of Significance
The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA) was established by the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 (the BAM Act) as
a body corporate that is governed by the Minister for Agriculture and Food. Although WAAA has financial transactions and assets and liabilities the
BAM Act does not require it to report these separately. However, for financial accountability purposes, the BAM Act requires WAAA’s activities to
be regarded as services under the control of the Department. Consequently, the Department has included WAAA’s income, expenses, assets and
liabilities in its financial statements as though they relate to the Department. The Department does not separately account for these transactions or
disclose them in its financial statements. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food during the year ended 30 June 2013.
Controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food are those policies and procedures established by the Director General to ensure
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions.
Director General’s Responsibility for Controls
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment
of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture
and Food based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of
relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Page 2 of 4
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Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance
with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year ended 30 June 2013.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome
achievement and service provision.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to ensure that the
key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess
the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.
Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and
Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Page 3 of 4
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Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year
ended 30 June 2013 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial
statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators
are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key
performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
26 September 2013
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2013
Note
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
Sales
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants from subsidies and non-government sources
Interest revenue
Share of profit in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other revenue
Total revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total gains

7
8
9
10
11
12
17

12
13
14
15
16
17

Total income other than income from state government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from state government
Service appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total Income from state government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Post acquisition reserve
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity
Total other comprehensive income

18

33

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2013

2012

$000

$000

117,804
58,143
9,134
4,535
91
9,184
43
183
199,117

123,525
64,955
8,187
–
4,394
15,337
67
199
216,664

58
11,099
1,532
19,740
636
–
15,687
48,752

63
11,014
2,748
26,130
922
687
22,237
63,800

–
–

–
–

48,752
150,365

63,800
152,864

135,515
1,278
4,101
140,894
(9,471)

143,322
4,447
7,511
155,280
2,416

7,780
953
123
8,856

(4,941)
(447)
(48)
(5,436)

(615)

(3,020)
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2013
Note
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Investment accounted for using equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

19
20
21

Restated*

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

7,863
35,749
1,576
207
1,264
9,355
4,500
1,143
61,657

13,751
38,799
1,663
215
1,272
9,789
4,300
674
70,463

7,389
22,990
2,072
195
1,498
16,644
3,900
807
55,495

20
24
25
26
27
28
29

2,559
51,739
712
58
11,285
223,310
4,863
294,526
356,183

2,352
48,399
590
808
9,545
214,887
4,805
281,386
351,849

2,070
45,159
638
–
8,855
223,246
–
279,968
335,463

31
32

15,447
34,959
50,406

18,393
33,987
52,380

13,063
28,124
41,187

32

4,935
4,935

5,464
5,464

5,900
5,900

22
23
24
25

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

Restated*
2013

33
33
33

55,341

57,844

47,087

300,842

294,005

288,376

60,205
225,018
15,619
300,842

52,753
216,285
24,967
294,005

44,104
221,673
22,599
288,376

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.
* Restatement of Property, Plant and Equipment – Refer to Note 52 Disclosure of Prior Period Adjustment
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Contributed Equity

Reserves

Accumulated
Surplus/(Deficit)

Total Equity

$000

$000

$000

$000

Note
Balance at 1 July 2011

33

44,104

221,673

26,023

291,800

Correction of prior period errors

52

–

–

(3,424)

(3,424)

44,104

221,673

22,599

288,376

Surplus/(deficit)

–

–

2,416

2,416

Other comprehensive income

–

(5,387)

(48)

(5,435)

Total comprehensive income for the period

–

(5,387)

2,368

(3,019)

Restated Balance at 1 July 2011

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations

8,649

–

–

8,649

–

–

–

–

8,649

–

–

8,649

Balance as at 30 June 2012

52,753

216,285

24,967

294,005

Balance at 1 July 2012

Transfer of net assets from other agency
Total

52,753

216,285

24,967

294,005

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors

–

–

–

–

Surplus/(deficit)

–

–

(9,471)

(9,471)

Other comprehensive income

–

8,733

123

8,856

Total comprehensive income for the period

–

8,733

(9,348)

(615)

8,152

–

–

8,152

(700)

–

–

(700)

7,452

–

–

7,452

60,205

225,018

15,619

300,842

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Transfer of net assets from other agency
Total
Balance as at 30 June 2013

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note

2013
$000

2012
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital contributions
Holding account drawdowns
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by state government

127,675
8,152
4,300
4,101
144,228

135,502
8,650
4,200
7,511
155,863

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other payments
Grants and subsidies

(117,568)
(60,280)
(8,001)
–
–
(228)
(9,184)

(123,180)
(46,536)
1,056
(260)
–
(3,533)
(15,122)

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Share of profit in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other receipts
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

11,482
21,272
671
3,216
4,498
–
15,165
(138,957)

62,680
2,748
1,040
(871)
–
–
–
(121,979)

34

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Investment in joint venture
Purchase of non-current assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

–
(14,127)

–
(11,431)

126
(14,001)

–
(11,431)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

(8,730)
54,901
46,171

22,453
32,448
54,901

34

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of income and expenses by service
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Business and Supply
Chain Development

Transformational
Development

Resource Risk
Management

TOTAL

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Cost of sales
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services

62,115
29,967
6,229
2,399
14
4,458
–
152
105,333

60,096
33,468
4,431
–
821
7,244
–
25
106,085

11,156
6,251
1,463
463
(3)
1,008
–
–
20,340

11,223
5,559
719
–
127
931
–
(1)
18,558

44,533
21,925
1,442
1,673
79
3,718
43
31
73,443

52,206
25,928
3,037
–
3,446
7,162
67
175
92,021

117,804
58,143
9,134
4,535
91
9,184
43
183
199,117

123,525
64,955
8,187
–
4,394
15,337
67
199
216,664

Income
Revenue
Sales
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-government sources
Interest revenue
Share of profit in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other revenue
Total revenue

–
(4,968)
(1,080)
(13,911)
(172)
–
(7,224)
(27,353)

(49)
(4,985)
(2,748)
(16,640)
(402)
(318)
(14,707)
(39,849)

–
(388)
(81)
(1,045)
(285)
–
(3,991)
(5,791)

(10)
(301)
–
(1,955)
(211)
(53)
1,666
(864)

(58)
(5,743)
(371)
(4,784)
(179)
–
(4,472)
(15,608)

(4)
(5,728)
–
(7,535)
(310)
(316)
(9,196)
(23,088)

(58)
(11,099)
(1,532)
(19,740)
(636)
–
(15,687)
(48,752)

(63)
(11,014)
(2,748)
(26,130)
(922)
(687)
(22,237)
(63,800)

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total gains

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Total income other than income from state government
NET COST OF SERVICES

(27,353)
77,980

(39,849)
66,236

(5,791)
14,550

(864)
17,694

(15,608)
57,835

(23,088)
68,933

(48,752)
150,365

(63,800)
152,864

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service Appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Royalties For Regions Fund
Total Income from state government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(67,838)
(676)
(1,096)
(69,610)
(8,370)

(68,349)
(2,138)
(2,025)
(72,511)
6,276

(12,101)
(131)
(985)
(13,217)
(1,333)

(14,591)
(456)
(2,061)
(17,108)
(586)

(55,576)
(471)
(2,020)
(58,067)
232

(60,382)
(1,853)
(3,426)
(65,660)
(3,273)

(135,515)
(1,278)
(4,101)
(140,894)
(9,471)

(143,322)
(4,447)
(7,511)
(155,280)
2,416

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of assets and liabilities by service
as at 30 June 2013

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets

Business and Supply
Chain Development

Transformational
Development

Resource Risk
Management

TOTAL

2013
$000

2012
$000

2013
$000

2012
$000

2013
$000

2012
$000

2013
$000

2012
$000

31,976
152,743
184,718

23,005
128,454
151,459

5,966
28,499
34,465

26,182
41,601
67,782

23,715
113,284
137,000

21,276
111,331
132,607

61,657
294,526
356,183

70,463
281,386
351,849

26,141
2,559
28,700

25,181
2,627
27,807

4,877
478
5,355

5,376
561
5,936

19,388
1,898
21,286

21,824
2,277
24,100

50,406
4,935
55,341

52,380
5,464
57,844

156,018

123,652

29,110

61,846

115,714

108,507

300,842

294,005

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations and income estimates
for the year ended 30 June 2013

2013
Estimate
$000

2013
Actual
$000

2013
Actual
$000

2012
Actual
$000

Delivery of Services
Item 97 Net amount appropriated to deliver services

137,479

134,007

3,472

134,007

141,852

(7,845)

Amount authorised by Other Statutes
- Agricultural and Related Resources Protection Act 1976
- Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

–
1,173
335
138,987

–
–
–
3,472

–
1,173
335
135,515

1,144

1,173
335
135,515

326
143,322

(1,144)
1,173
9
(7,807)

6,417

8,152

(1,735)

8,152

11,931

(3,779)

43,839
–
43,839

45,823
–
45,823

(1,984)
–
(1,984)

45,823
–
45,823

47,581
–
47,581

(1,758)
–
(1,758)

GRAND TOTAL

189,243

189,490

(247)

189,490

202,834

(13,344)

Details of Expenses by Service
Business and Supply Chain Development
Transformational Development
Resources Risk Management
Total Cost of Services
Less Total Income
Net Cost of Services
Adjustments(i)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

103,420
19,051
104,328
226,799
72,127
154,672
(15,685)
138,987

105,333
20,340
73,443
199,117
48,752
150,365
(14,850)
135,515

(1,913)
(1,289)
30,885
27,682
23,375
4,307
(835)
3,472

105,333
20,340
73,443
199,117
48,752
150,365
(14,850)
135,515

106,085
18,558
92,021
216,664
63,800
152,864
(9,542)
143,322

(752)
1,782
(18,578)
(17,547)
(15,048)
(2,500)
(5,308)
(7,807)

16,782
(10,365)
6,417

14,127
(5,975)
8,152

2,655
(4,390)
(1,735)

14,127
(5,975)
8,152

11,931
–
11,931

2,196
(5,975)
(3,779)

35,039
8,800
43,839

30,433
15,390
45,823

4,606
(6,590)
(1,984)

30,433
15,390
45,823

31,491
16,090
47,581

(1,058)
(700)
(1,758)

Capital
Item 156 Capital appropriations
Administered Transactions
Item 39 Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and Transfer Payments
Administered capital appropriations
Total administered transactions

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Adjustment for other funding sources
Capital Appropriations
DETAIL OF INCOME ESTIMATES
Less income disclosed as Administered Income (refer note 50)
Adjustments(i)

Variance
$000

Variance
$000

(1) Adjustments

are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and
superannuation.
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variances to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes. This Summary provides the basis for the Explanatory Statement Information requirements of Treasurer’s
Instruction, TI 945, set out in note 39.
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Index of notes to the financial statements
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General
General
General
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General
General
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Income
Income
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Income
Income
Income
Income
Assets
Assets
Assets
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Assets
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Expense
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General statements
Basis of preparation
Reporting entity
Contributed Equity
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Revenue recognition
Sale of goods
Interest
Service appropriations
Net appropriation determination
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Gains
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Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
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Financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
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Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
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Jointly controlled operations
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Cash Flow
Expense
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
External
External
External
External
General
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
1

AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
General
The department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the department for the annual
reporting period ended 30 June 2013.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

General Statement
The department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements
of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary
application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of
financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b)

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for
land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all
periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
Note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the
process of applying the department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the
financial statements.
Note 5 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
(c)

Reporting Entity
The reporting entity comprises the department and bodies listed at note 42 ‘Related bodies’.
Mission
The department’s mission is to work with our partners to develop the WA agriculture and food sector; and to effectively manage
risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies.
The department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. It provides some services on a fee-for-service basis.
The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. The financial statements encompass all funds through which the
department controls resources to carry on its functions.
Services
The department provides the following services:
Service 1: Business and Supply Chain Development
Service 2: Transformational Development
Service 3: Resource Risk Management
The department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of government which are not controlled by, nor
integral to, the function of the department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in the principal
financial statements of the department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are
presented at note 50 ‘Disclosure of administered expenses and income by service’ and note 51 ‘Disclosure of administered assets
and liabilities by service’.

(d)

Contributed Equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature
of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the government
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners according to Treasurer’s Instruction 955
Contribution by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non discretionary and non reciprocal. See note 33 ‘Equity’.
(e)

Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the department gains control of
the appropriated funds. The department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the
department’s bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. See note 18
‘Income from state government’ for further information.
Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the
department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2012/13 Budget Statements, the department retained $83.2
million in 2013 ($82.6 m in 2012) from the following:
•
•
•
•
•

proceeds from fees and charges;
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;
one-off revenues with a sale of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real property;
revenues from services provided though the establishment of Memorandum of Understandings; and
other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually
when cash is received.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the department obtains control over
the funds. The department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the department’s bank account.
Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their
fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings, and
historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment and infrastructure. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment
and infrastructure are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market
buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent
market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This
normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined
by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated
replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying
amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.
When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
net amount restated to the revalued amount.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services)
and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the
reporting period.
Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as
the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available. Land under infrastructure is included in land
reported under note 28 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to
assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not
provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating
to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as
described in note 28 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for
each class of depreciable asset are:
Asset category

Life (years)

Buildings
Computer and communications equipment
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Plant and machinery
Vehicles and buses
Infrastructure
Other equipment

20 to 40 and/or estimated useful life
3 to 5
10	 
5 to 10
5 to 20
5 to 10
20 to 40
10	 

Works of art controlled by the department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have
indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and
consequently no depreciation has been recognised. Land is not depreciated.
(g)

Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more
are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life
which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the department have a finite useful life
and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences		
Development Costs
Software(a)		
Website Costs
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation

up to 10 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
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Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Development Costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the
future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other
development costs are expensed as incurred.
Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year
of acquisition.
Website Costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a
website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.
(h)

Impairment of Assets
Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is
recognised. As the department is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end
of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
(i)

Non-current Assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Non-current assets held for distribution to owners are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for
distribution to owner are not depreciated or amortised.
All Crown land holdings are vested in the department by the government. The Department of Regional Development and Lands
(DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The department transfers the Crown land and any attached
buildings to DRDL when the land becomes available for sale.

(j)

Leases
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from
the leased properties.

(k)

Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the department has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
• Financial Assets
		 – Cash and cash equivalents
		 – Restricted cash and cash equivalents
		 – Receivables
		 – Amounts receivable for services
		 – Available for sale financial assets
• Financial Liabilities
		 – Payables
		 – Borrowings
		 – Finance lease liabilities
		 – Amount due to the Treasurer
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Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(l)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 31 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The department considers the carrying amount of accrued
salaries to be equivalent to its value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually
into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year
when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
(n)

Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)
The department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding
account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover
leave entitlements and asset replacement.
See also note 18 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 24 ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.

(o)

Inventories and Biological Assets
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate for
each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out basis. Biological assets comprising of
livestock and field crops are valued at fair value less estimated point of sale costs and costs necessary to get them to market. A
gain or loss on valuation is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. See note 21 ‘Biological assets’.
Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net
realisable value. See note 22 ‘Inventories’.
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(p)

Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against
the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that
the department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement
within 30 days. See also note 2(k) ‘Financial instruments› and note 23 ‘Receivables’.

(q)

Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.
See also note 46 ‘Financial instruments’ and note 31 ‘Payables’.

(r)

Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(s)

Amounts due to the Treasury
The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Initial recognition and measurement, and subsequent
measurement, is at the amount repayable. Although there is no interest charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value
as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12 months with the effect of discounting not being material.

(t)

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See also
note 32 ‘Provisions’
(i) Provisions – Employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.
Annual Leave
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
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Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including nonsalary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the department does not have an unconditional right to the
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Long Service Leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service based on
remuneration rates current at the end of the reporting period. An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries in 2013 determined that the liability measured using the short-hand measurement technique
was not materially different from the liability determined using the present value of expected future payments. This calculation is
consistent with the department’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including nonsalary component such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the department does not have an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the department has an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Sick Leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement
that will accrue in the future.
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Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is
expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by
employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non vesting, an expense is
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.
Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to public service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an
additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for
employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported
as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to public service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to
an additional ten weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is
measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. This liability is measured on the same
basis as annual leave.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular
schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the
department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and
the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the
Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the department to GESB.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS
became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment
on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of
the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. The Authority makes
concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s
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Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Authority’s
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the
employer’s share.
(ii)

Provisions – Other

Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of
‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included
in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See notes 10 ‘Other expenses’ and 32 ‘Provisions’.
(u) Superannuation Expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS or other superannuation fund. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in
respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
(v) Assets and Services Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets and/or
the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and the department would otherwise pay for. A corresponding
expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
Assets or service received from other state government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(w) Jointly Controlled Operations
The department has interests in joint ventures. Joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control.
Jointly Controlled Operations involves the use of assets and other resources of the venturers rather than the establishment
of a separate entity. The department recognises its interests in the jointly controlled operations by recognising the assets it
controls and the liabilities that it incurs in respect of the joint venture. The department also recognises the expenses that it
incurs and its share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods or services by the jointly controlled operations. (Refer to
Note 44).
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Jointly Controlled Assets involves the joint control and ownership of assets. The assets are used to obtain benefits for the
venturers who take a share of the output from the assets and bear an agreed share of expenses incurred. Each venturer has
control over its share of the future economic benefits through it share in the jointly controlled asset. (Refer to Note 45).
Jointly Controlled Entities involves the establishment of an entity in which each joint venturer has an interest. The entity
operates in the same way as any other entity, except that a contractual arrangement between the venturers establishes joint
control over the economic activity of the entity. The department has adopted the Equity Method of accounting for Jointly
Controlled Entities. (Refer to Note 27).
(x)

Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial
year.

(y)

Memorandum of Understanding
During the year the department had a memorandum of understanding with the Agricultural Produce Commission and the Rural
Business Development Corporation. The objective of these arrangements is to establish the types and standards of services to
be provided, the basis for determining the level and the costs of services and responsibilities of the parties to the memorandum.

3

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS MODEL
Goods and Services Tax						
In accordance with the grouping provisions the right to receive GST and the obligation to pay GST rests with the department
in regard to all GST transactions incurred by members of the group. As a result separate GST transactions are not recognised
within the individual member’s financial statements as they are all brought to account in the department’s financial statements.
With effect from 2 May 2011, the Office of Shared Services assumed responsibility for the preparation of the monthly GST
returns for all members of the group, resulting in GST being reported by each reporting entity. This responsibility was rolled back
to the department from February 2013.
Available for sale financial assets					
Available for sale financial assets are recognised at fair value and are presented separately from other assets in the Statement
of Financial Position. Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until
the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Fair values of
quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (e.g. unlisted securities), the
Authority establishes fair value using valuation techniques.
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4

JUDGEMENTS MADE BY MANAGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES		
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The department evaluates these
judgements regularly. 				
Operating lease commitments					
The department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these leases
relate to buildings of temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership. Accordingly, the leases have been classified as operating leases. 		

5

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY		
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the department’s long service leave provision include expected
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and
assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

6

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard:
The department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the department.			
AASB 2011-9

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 and 1049]
This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they
are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). There is no financial
impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the department has not applied early any of
the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the department. Where applicable, the
department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.		
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 9		Financial Instrument
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective
Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory application
date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 10

Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes
to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The department has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 11		Joint Arrangements
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a number
of changes to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. The department has not yet determined the application or
the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 12		Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. The department has not yet determined the application or
the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 13		Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and
requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements. There is no financial
impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119		Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the
recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.

1 Jan 2013

The department does not have any defined benefit plans, and therefore the financial
impact will be limited to the effect of discounting annual leave and long service leave
liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts.
AASB 127		Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. The department has not yet determined the application or
the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 128		Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number
of changes to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. The department has not yet determined the application or
the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 1053		Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two
tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements.
There is no financial impact.
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 1055		Budgetary Reporting
This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the circumstances in
which they are to be included in the general purpose financial statements of not-forprofit entities within the GGS. The department will be required to disclose additional
budgetary information and explanations of major variances between actual and
budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2010-2		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119,
121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 and 1052 and Int 2,
4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 and 1052]
This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of
entities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2010-7		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139,
1023 and 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 and 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January
2015. The department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.
AASB 2011-2		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 and 1054]
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates
them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New
Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is no financial
impact.
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 2011-6		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from
Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 and 131]
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated financial
statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or
intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or Australian
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial
impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2011-7		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and
Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133,
136, 138, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 and 17]
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB
10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The department has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-8		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4,
5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132,
133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 and 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19,
131 and 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13
in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-10		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 and 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. There is limited
financial impact.

1 Jan 2013
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 2011-11		Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced
Disclosure Requirements
This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011). There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-1		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement - Reduced
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 and 141]
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for additional
and amended disclosures arising from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments
implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-2		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 and 132]
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that
will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential
effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s
recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial
position. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-3		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies
identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning
of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2012-5		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements
2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 and 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no
financial impact.

1 Jan 2013
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Operative for reporting
periods beginning
on/after
AASB 2012-6		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 and 2011-8]
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments
to 1 January 2015. Further amendments are also made to consequential amendments
arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequential
amendments arising out of the Standards that will still apply from 1 January 2013.
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-7		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 and 127]
This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting Standards to provide further
information regarding the differential reporting framework and the two tiers of reporting
requirements for preparing general financial statement. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-10		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other
Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128,
132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, and 2011-7 and Int 12]
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related Standards to revise the
transition guidance relevant to the initial application of those Standards, and to clarify
the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s previous accounting for its
involvement with other entities are required and the timing of such adjustments.

1 Jan 2013

The Standard was issued in December 2012. The department has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 2012-11		Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 and 2011-4]
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian Accounting Standards
– Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2). These corrections ensure that the
Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the equity method (in the new
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards) to entities complying with Australian
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.
79
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7

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
Wages and salaries(a)
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b)
Long service leave
Annual leave
Other related expenses

2013
$000

2012
$000

95,483
10,405
3,563
2,645
5,708
117,804

100,485
10,463
3,180
2,990
6,407
123,525

21,330
3,819
1,920
11,092
6,174
3,548
3,238
2,679
964
412
2,967
58,143

20,137
4,818
1,972
16,777
6,826
5,051
2,753
1,774
1,823
769
2,255
64,955

(a)

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit
tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution
component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super
Scheme (contributions paid).
Employment on-costs expenses are included at note 10 ‘Other expenses’.
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 34 ‘Provisions’.
8

SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
Professional Services(a)
Travel
Communications
Consumables
Lease, Rent and Hire Costs
Consultancies expense
Utilities, rates and charges
Insurance(b)
Licences, fees and registration
Advertising
General Administration Costs
(a) Includes
(b) Includes

audit fee, see also note 43 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.
workers’ compensation insurance.
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2013
$000
9

10

2012
$000

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE
Depreciation
Buildings
Computer and Communications Equipment
Furniture fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Plant and machinery
Infrastructure
Vehicles
Other equipment
Total Depreciation

4,754
757
2
68
1,806
50
615
36
8,088

4,128
703
3
72
1,751
51
670
36
7,413

Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total Amortisation

1,046
1,046

774
774

Total depreciation and amortisation expense

9,134

8,187

(223)
142
85
87
91

196
876
1,193
2,129
4,394

OTHER EXPENSES
Doubtful debts expense
Employment on-costs
Return of unused grants
Miscellaneous other
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2013
$000
11

12

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES
Recurrent
Research grant allocations
Donations and sponsorships
TRADING PROFIT
Sales
Cost of sales
Opening inventory
Add Purchases
Less Closing inventory(a)
Cost of goods sold
Trading profit
(a)

13

14

2012
$000

8,729
455
9,184

14,990
347
15,337

58

63

(105)
(9)
(114)
71
(43)
15

(171)
(1)
(172)
105
(67)
(4)

10,698

10,647

145
256
11,099

37
330
11,014

1,532

2,748

See also note 24 ‘Inventories’.

USER CHARGES AND FEES
User charges and fees
Memorandum of understanding – services provided
Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
COMMONWEALTH GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants
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15

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES FROM NON-GOVERNMENT SOURCES
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1
Rural industry research funds
Meat and Livestock Australia
Grains Research and Development Corporation
Rural Industry Research and Development Corporation
Australian Wool Innovation Pty Ltd
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research
CRC Research Grants
Commercial Grants
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Horticulture Industry
Other grants and subsidies
Total grants and subsidies from non-government sources

16

OTHER REVENUE
Levies, rates and licences
Return of grant allocations
Royalties
Rents and leases
Recoups of operating expenses
Other

83

2013
$000

2012
$000

773
6,213
123
220
202
2,005
9,146

511
10,745
36
230
1,376
2,798
8,812

1,049
9
19,740

1,622
–
26,130

4,231
2,769
1,547
1,583
1,874
3,683
15,687

4,890
1,931
497
1,554
6,151
7,214
22,237
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2013
$000
17

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Office equipment
Vehicles and transportation equipment
Plant and equipment
Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Land
Buildings
Infrastructure
Office equipment
Vehicles and transportation equipment
IT equipment
Plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss)

18

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a)
The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other state government
agencies during the period:
Resources received free of charge(b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Landgate
State Solicitors Office
Department of Finance
Department of Water
Department of Health

84

2012
$000

–
83
51
134

1
21
199
221

–
41
–
57
8
9
202
317

7
137
6
7
4
–
259
420

(183)

(199)

135,515

143,322

665
285
308
–
20
1,278

3,923
210
292
2
20
4,447
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2013
$000

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT (continued)
Royalties for Regions Fund:(c)
Regional Community Services Fund
Regional men’s health initiative
State barrier fence and wild dog management
Rangeland reform program
State barrier fence
Regional workers incentives allowance payments
Regional Infrastructure and Headwork Fund
Carbon farming
Gascoyne foodbowl
Stormwater reuse
Water efficiency
Water opportunities – Cockatoo Sands
Water opportunities – La Grange
Total income from state government
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and
any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as
revenue at fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured
and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of
assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to
equity.
(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The
recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

19

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash advances
Cash at bank

85

2012
$000

476
416
150
391
617

945
230
293
1,660
–

386
–
–
209
500
956
4,101

621
1,161
630
915
451
605
7,511

140,894

155,280

64
7,799
7,863

63
13,688
13,751
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2013
$000
20

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Current
Restricted cash(a)
Departmental Receipts in Suspense
Royalties for Regions Fund
Special purpose accounts(b)
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Non-interest bearing)
Declared Pest Account
Land Conservation Districts Fund
Plant Research and Development
Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
Total current
(a) Funds held in the following accounts are for the following purposes.
– Departmental Receipts in Suspense: to hold and distribute funds pending
identification for allocation.
– Royalties for Regions Fund: to hold and distribute funds for projects and
programs in WA regional areas.
(b) Receipts and disbursements are disclosed in note 48 in accordance with
Treasurer’s Instruction 1103(15).
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account(c)
Total non-current

2012
$000

–
3,848
3,848

–
5,671
5,671

7,983
2,812
2,072
537
171
7,004
6,058
4,258
1,006
31,901

10,459
3,180
2,178
393
106
6,070
6,115
4,067
560
33,128

35,749

38,799

2,559
2,559

2,352
2,352

38,308

41,151

(c)

Funds held in the suspense account are to be used only for the purpose of
meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents
86
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2013
$000

2012
$000

926
650
1,576

1,405
258
1,663

21

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Livestock
Field crops

22

INVENTORIES
Current
Inventories held for resale
– Raw materials and stores
– Finished goods
At net realisable value
Total current

1,220

1,217

44
1,264

55
1,272

RECEIVABLES
Current
Receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
GST receivable
Interest receivable
Total current receivables

8,667
(105)
122
518
153
9,355

9,071
(358)
43
845
188
9,789

358
(223)
(30)
–
105

333
196
(172)
–
358

23

Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period
Doubtful debt expense
Amounts written off during the period
Amounts recovered during the period
Balance at end of period

The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See also note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note 45 ‘Financial instruments’.

87

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

24

AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FOR SERVICES (HOLDING ACCOUNT)
Current
Non-current

2013
$000

2012
$000

4,500
51,739
56,239

4,300
48,399
52,699

52,699
7,840
(4,300)
56,239

49,059
7,840
(4,200)
52,699

372
680
91
1,143

534
44
96
674

467
245
712

329
261
590

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. See note 2(n) ‘Amounts
receivable for services (holding account)’.
The reconciliation at the beginning and end of the current year and previous year is set out
below.
Opening balance of Holding Account
Non-cash appropriation
Departmental drawdown
Closing balance of Holding Account
25

OTHER ASSETS
Current
Prepayments
Lease rentals
Goods and services
Registrations
Total current assets
Available for sale financial assets
Listed shares
Unlisted shares
Total non-current assets
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2013
$000
26

NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION TO OWNERS
Opening balance
Land and buildings
Less: write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs
Assets reclassified as held for distribution to owners
Land and buildings
Less: write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs(a)
Total assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Land and buildings
Less: write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs
Less assets distributed
Land and buildings
Less: write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs
Closing balance
Land and buildings
Less: write-down from cost to fair value less selling costs
(a)

Disclosed as Other expenses.

89

2012
$000

808
–
808

–
–
–

–
–
–

808
–
808

808
–
808

808
–
808

750
–
750

–
–
–

58
–
58

808
–
808
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2013
$000

2012
$000

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD
Investment in joint venture entity at initial cost of investment
Share of profit/(loss) using the equity method
Post acquisition reserve

13,172
7,851
(7,555)
(3,020)
5,668
4,714
11,285
9,545
The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA), a body corporate established under the Biosecurity and Agriculture
Management Act 2007, is a joint investor in:
InterGrain Pty Ltd
InterGrain Pty Ltd was incorporated on 26 October 2007 and is resident in Australia. The principal activity of the joint venture
is to commercialise the research from wheat and barley breeding.
As at 30 June 2013 WAAA holds a 48.67% (2012: 52.68%) equity interest in InterGrain Pty Ltd. The department regards the
investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd as a joint venture entity, due to the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic
activity and the financial and operating decisions relating to the activity requiring the unanimous consent of the shareholders.
Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre Ltd (Limited by Guarantee) (AEGIC)
AEGIC was incorporated on 24 October 2012. The primary aim of the joint venture is to lead the establishment and operation
of a centre of science, technology and innovation to facilitate the competitiveness of the Australian grains industry with a
particular focus on export markets.
The department has no obligations with respect to liabilities incurred by InterGrain Pty Ltd and Australian Export Grains Innovation
Centre (AEGIC).
Summary financials from the management accounts for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership
by the department:
Intergrain
$000
15,778
5,004
20,782
3,948
3,948
16,834
9,582
(15,247)
(5,665)

2013
Current assets
Non current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Revenue
Expenses
Income/(Loss)
90

AEGIC
$000
7,391
1
7,392
1,208
1,208
6,184
10,757
(4,573)
6,184

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
27

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (continued)
Intergrain
$000

2012

28

AEGIC
$000

Current assets
Non current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

19,199
3,889
23,088
4,971
4,971

–
–
–
–
–

Net assets
Revenue
Expenses
Income/(Loss)

18,117
16,410
(15,107)
1,303

–
–
–
–

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
LAND
Land at fair value(a)
BUILDINGS
At fair value(a)
COMPUTER AND COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

91

2013
$000

Restated
2012
$000

Restated
2011
$000

127,970

121,410

120,403

69,330

71,072

81,127

5,803
(4,058)
1,744

4,818
(3,576)
1,242

4,373
(3,130)
1,243

119
(86)
34

91
(84)
7

91
(82)
10
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
OFFICE EQUIPMENT
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
PLANT AND MACHINERY
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
VEHICLES AND BUSES
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
INFRASTRUCTURE
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
OTHER EQUIPMENT
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
CAPITAL WORKS IN PROGRESS
Buildings
Other
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
(a)

2013
$000

Restated
2012
$000

Restated
2011
$000

1,000
(633)
367

1,001
(674)
327

1,117
(768)
349

32,870
(23,425)
9,445

31,790
(22,479)
9,311

30,016
(21,485)
8,532

10,950
(9,073)
1,878

11,002
(8,779)
2,223

10,821
(8,276)
2,544

1,032
(285)
748

1,032
(234)
798

1,069
(214)
855

383
(183)
200

382
(148)
234

376
(113)
264

5,152
6,442
11,594

3,818
4,445
8,263

1,673
6,246
7,919

223,310

214,887

223,246

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 and recognised at 30 June 2013. In undertaking the
revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $6,301,650 (2012: $6,441,750) and buildings:
$5,325,300 (2012: $4,665,400). For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on the basis of
depreciated replacement cost. See note 2(f) ‘Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure’.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

2013
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Disposal
Transfers(a)
Revaluations Increments/(Decrements)
Depreciation
Impairment Losses
Write-Offs of Assets
Carrying amount at end of period

(a)

Land

Buildings

Computer and
Communications
Equipment

Furniture
Fixtures and
Fittings

Office
Equipment

Plant and
Machinery

Vehicles
and Buses

Infrastructure

Other
Equipment

Capital
Works in
Progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

121,410
60
–

71,072
1,002
–

1,242
1,084
–

7
28
–

327
166
(2)

9,311
2,099
(169)

2,223
277
(7)

798
–
–

234
2
–

8,263
4,464
–

214,887
9,182
(178)

–
6,500
–
–
–

873
1,179
(4,754)
–
(42)

182
–
(756)
–
(8)

–
–
(1)
–
–

–
–
(68)
–
(56)

43
–
(1,806)
–
(33)

–
–
(615)
–
–

–
–
(50)
–
–

–
–
(36)
–
–

(1,133)
–
–
–
–

(35)
7,679
(8,086)
–
(139)

127,970

69,330

1,744

34

367

9,445

1,878

748

200

11,594

223,310

The balance in transfers consists of the following component: An amount of $35,000 was removed from the Capital Works in
Progress and has been included in intangible assets (note 29).

2012
120,403

81,127

1,243

10

349

8,532

2,544

855

264

7,919

223,246

Additions

–

927

702

–

55

2,672

352

–

5

7,214

11,927

Disposal

(6)

(32)

–

–

(5)

(223)

(4)

–

–

–

(270)
(7,518)

Carrying amount at start of period

Transfers between

classes(a)

(158)

(605)

–

–

–

115

–

–

–

(6,870)

1,171

(1,544)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(373)

Depreciation

–

(4,128)

(703)

(3)

(71)

(1,751)

(669)

(51)

(35)

–

(7,411)

Impairment Losses(b)

–
–

(4,569)
(104)

–
–

–
–

–
(1)

–
(34)

–
–

–
(6)

–
–

–
–

(4,569)
(145)

121,410

71,072

1,242

7

327

9,311

2,223

798

234

8,263

214,887

Revaluations Increments/(Decrements)

Write-Offs of Assets
Carrying amount at end of period

(a)

The balance in transfers consists of the following components:
An amount of $3,611,000 was removed from Capital Works in Progress and has been included in additions to other asset
categories.
An amount of $3,094,000 has been transferred to intangible assets (note 29).
An amount of $808,000 has been transferred to Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners (note 26).

(b)

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable
amount, the loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrement in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Current
2011
Carrying amount at start of period
Prior Year Correction(Note 52)
Restated Carrying amount
Additions
Disposal
Transfers
Revaluations Increments/(Decrements)
Depreciation
Write-Offs of Assets
Carrying amount at end of period

29

Barrier
Fence

Land

Computer and
Furniture
Office
Plant and Vehicles and
Other
Buildings Communications Fixtures and
Infrastructure
Equipment Machinery
Buses
Equipment
Equipment
Fittings

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

5,700
–

116,378
–

77,838
–

1,602
–

20
–

–
–

10,294
–

2,960
–

–
–

5,700 116,378
180
5
–
–
(5,599)
–
–
4,020
(281)
–
–
–
– 120,403

77,838
72
(15)
4,684
2,874
(3,892)
(434)
81,127

1,602
307
(2)
17
–
(678)
(3)
1,243

20
–
–
(7)
–
(3)
–
10

–
5
.
461
–
(117)
–
349

10,294
1,592
(146)
(750)
–
(2,438)
(20)
8,532

2,960
416
(50)
(52)
–
(730)
–
2,544

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
COMPUTER SOFTWARE
At cost
Accumulated amortisation

–
(10)
–
996
–
(131)
–
855

Capital
Works in
Progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

–
–

3,484
(3,423)

218,276
(3,423)

–
18
–
282
–
(36)
–
264

61
7,916
–
(58)
–
–
–
7,919

214,853
10,501
(213)
(26)
6,894
(8,306)
(457)
223,246

2013
$000
3,129
(1,820)
1,309

2012
$000
3,094
(774)
2,320

CAPITAL WORKS IN PROGRESS
Computer Software

3,554

2,485

Total Intangible Assets

4,863

4,805

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the
reporting period are set as follows:
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of
the reporting period are set out below:
Computer Software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment losses

2013
$000

2012
$000

2,356
(1,046)
–
1,309

3,094
–
(774)
2,320

3,554
–
–
3,554

2,485
–
–
2,485

Reconciliations:
Computer Software
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Adjustment
Classified as held for sale
Impairment losses
Impairment losses reversed
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

2,321
–
35
–
–
–
(1,046)
1,309

–
3,094
–
–
–
–
(774)
2,320

Capital Works in Progress
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Adjustment
Classified as held for sale
Impairment losses
Impairment losses reversed
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

2,485
2,790
(1,721)
–
–
–
–
3,554

–
2,485
–
–
–
–
–
2,485

Capital Works in Progress
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment losses
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31

32

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
The redevelopment of the South Perth Department of Agriculture and Food Headquarters including the Australian Grain
Innovation Centre by 2018/19 requires the recognition of impairment of buildings on the existing site.
The department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the
period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for distribution to owners or
written off.
2013
2012
$000
$000
PAYABLES
Current
Trade payables
7,088
7,357
Accrued expenses
5,192
7,168
Accrued salaries
2,607
2,274
560
1,594
Other payables
15,447
18,393
Total current
See also note 2(q) ‘Payables’ and note 45 ‘Financial instruments’.
PROVISIONS
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a)
Long service leave(b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)
Total current provisions
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b)

96

12,174
16,942
29,116

12,072
16,211
28,283

5,843
34,959

5,704
33,987

4,341
4,341

4,874
4,874
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PROVISIONS (continued)

2013
$000

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)
Total non-current provisions
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting date.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as
follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

2012
$000

594
4,935

590
5,464

7,171
5,003
12,174

7,142
4,930
12,072

16,942
4,341
21,283

16,211
4,874
21,085

6,295
142
–
6,437

5,419
876
–
6,295

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected
to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months of the end of the reporting date
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of
employment on-costs including worker’s compensation insurance. The provision is the
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the
unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 8 ‘Supplies and services’.
Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee
benefits are set out below:
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefit
Carrying amount at the end of period
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2013
$000

Restated
2012
$000

Restated
2011
$000

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Balance at start of period

52,753

44,104

29,557

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation(a)

8,152

8,649

6,154

(700)

–

–

–
60,205

–
52,753

8,393
44,104

EQUITY
The government holds the equity interest in the department on behalf of the
community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the
department. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Transfer of net assets to other agencies (b)
WA Police
Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Agriculture Protection Board
Balance at end of period
(a)

(b)

Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (nonreciprocal) transfers of net assets between state government agencies
have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer’s
Instruction 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public
Sector Entities’.
Treasurer’s Instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net
assets to government to be accounted for as distribution to owners in
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038.
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2013
$000

Restated
2012
$000

Restated
2011
$000

211,570
211,570

216,511
216,511

209,617
209,617

6,601
1,179
7,780

1,172
(6,113)
(4,941)

4,020
2,874
6,894

219,350
219,350

211,570
211,570

216,511
216,511

4,715
953
5,668

5,162
(447)
4,715

–
5,162
5,162

Balance at end of period
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)
Balance at start of period
Prior period adjustment
Result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Balance at end of period

225,018

216,285

221,673

24,967
–
(9,471)
123
15,619

22,599
2,416
(48)
24,967

49,019
(41,607)
15,219
(32)
22,599

Total Equity at end of period

300,842

294,005

288,376

EQUITY (continued)
RESERVES
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on
the revaluation of non-current assets, as described in accounting policy note 2(f)
‘Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure’.
Balance at start of period
Non-current assets
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Non current assets
Land
Buildings
Balance at end of period
Non-current assets
Post-acquisition reserve (a)
Balance at start of period
Post-acquisition reserve for the year
Balance at end of period
(a) The post-acquisition reserve relates to the investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 19)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: current (note 20)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: non-current (note 20)
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating
activities
Net cost of services
Non Cash Items
Net (loss)/profit sale of assets (note 17 ‘Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)
Doubtful Debt expense (note 10 ‘Other expenses’)
Resources received free of charge (note 18 ‘Income from state government’)
Share of net (profit)/loss in joint venture using equity method
Decrease in asset revaluation surplus
Decrease in post acquisition reserve
(Increase)/Decrease in Assets
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables(a)
Available for sale financial assets
Other current assets

100

2013
$000

2012
$000

7,863
35,749
2,559
46,171

13,751
38,799
2,352
54,902

(150,365)

(152,864)

183
9,134
(223)
1,278
4,535
–
–

92
8,187
196
4,447
(687)
(372)
(447)

87
8
8
107
(122)
(469)

409
(19)
226
6,420
48
133
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities
Payables(a)
Provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b)
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c)
Net cash used in operating activities
(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and
the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not
included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

35

2013
$000

2012
$000

(2,946)
443
(287)
(327)

5,477
5,427
619
733

(138,957)

(121,976)

SERVICES PROVIDED FREE OF CHARGE
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for
functions outside the normal operations of the department.
63
278
44
385

Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
Department of Environment and Conservation
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$000
36

COMMITMENTS
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
Capital Expenditure Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Non-cancellable Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2012
$000

823
–
–
823

3,892
–
–
3,892

2,212
1,944
44
4,200

2,732
2,917
23
5,672

The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five year terms, with rents payable monthly in advance. Contingent rental
provisions within the lease agreements require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per
annum. An option exists to renew the leases at the end of their five year terms for an additional term of five years.
A contractual arrangements consists between State Fleet and agencies for the lease of vehicles based on both a vehicle kilometre
specification and vehicle lease terms. Lease payments are made on a monthly basis. The department is responsible for registration,
insurance and servicing of leased vehicles in line with manufacturer’s recommendations, as well as the cost of refurbishment on
return. State Fleet carries the residual risk on the sale of the vehicle.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements.
Litigation in progress
The department has four pending litigation claims that may affect the financial position to the value of $3.620 million pertaining
to cases relating to alleged quarantine destruction orders, incorrect advice given to eradicate plant pests and defamation. These
are currently with the State Solicitor’s Office. Recent endeavours to have one of the cases settled have been unsuccessful. It is
uncertain when the cases will be finalised. RiskCover is providing full indemnity in the event that the department is found to have
be liable.
Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 (Act), the department is required to report known and suspected contaminated
sites to the Department of Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, after specific site investigations,
reports are submitted to DER to classify these sites. DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health and
the environment. Where a risk is identified, the department may have a liability in respect of further investigation or actual
remediation of the site. The department currently has engineering consultants investigating 26 regional sites and 3 metropolitan
sites. A number of suspected contaminated sites are being retained and managed. The department is not in a position to
provide specific amounts that may be required to investigate or remediate individual sites or suggest a timetable for how long
issues at individual sites will remain outstanding.
Two sites, Depot Facility at Jerramungup and Kulin Air Strip, have been classified as contaminated with the chemical
fenitrorhion.

38

EVENTS OCCURING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no events that occurred after the end of the reporting period that would materially affect the financial statements or
disclosures.
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statement titled
‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below. Significant variations are considered
to be those greater than 10% or $4 million.
Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Significant variance between estimate and actual for 2013
2013
2013
Estimate
Actual
Variance
$000
$000
$000
1.

2.

3.

Resource Risk Management
Revenue expected for Grants and Subsidies have not materialised, thus
resulting in a reduction in expenditure for this service. Some of the 2012/13
Royalties for Regions budgeted expenditure has been delayed until 2013/14.
Total Income
Revenue is down due to a reduction in Sales of Goods and Service, and
Other Revenue, and also Grants and Subsidies. Research funding from
industry bodies has declined. Delays in project commencement has resulted
in funding receipt delays.
In accordance with AASB 1050 Original Budget separate disclosure is
required of administered income, expenses, assets and liabilities.
Capital Contribution (Appropriation)
Delay in commencement of some Information Systems Upgrade Capital
projects has been offset by unbudgeted Capital Appropriation to cover cost
of decommissioning of Shared Services.
Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2012

4.

Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Funding for short term government initiatives, such as the Farmer Assistance
Business Planning Program, were removed from the 12/13 budget.
104

104,328

73,443

30,885

72,127

48,752

23,375

6,417

8,152

(1,735)

2013
Actual
$000
135,515

2012
Actual
$000
143,322

Variance
$000
(7,807)
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT (continued)

5.
6.

7.

Resource Risk Management
12/13 revenue expected for Grants and Subsidies have not materialised, thus
resulting in a reduction in 12/13 expenditure for this service.
Total Income
12/13 Revenue is down due to a reduction in Sales of Goods and Service,
and Other Revenue, and also Grants and Subsidies. Research funding from
industry bodies has declined in 12/13.
Capital Contribution (appropriation)
The reduction in expenditure relates to some components of the Information
Management System Upgrade Project being behind schedule.
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2013
Actual
$000

2012
Actual
$000

Variance
$000

73,443

92,021

(18,578)

48,752

63,800

(15,048)

8,152

11,931

(3,779)
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR OFFICERS
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year fall within the following bands are:
2013
2012
$
0 – 70,000
–
1
70,001 – 80,000
–
–
80,001 – 90,000
–
–
90,0001 – 100,000
–
–
100,001 – 110,000
–
–
110,001 – 120,000
–
–
120,001 – 130,000
–
–
130,001 – 140,000
–
–
140,001 – 150,000
–
–
150,001 – 160,000
–
–
160,001 – 170,000
–
–
170,001 – 180,000
–
–
180,001 – 190,000
1
2
190,001 – 200,000
2
1
200,001 – 210,000
1
2
210,001 – 220,000
–
–
220,001 – 230,000
1
–
280,001 – 290,000
–
–
320,001 – 330,000
–
1
330,001 – 340,000
–
–
340,001 – 350,000
1
1

Base remuneration and superannuation
Annual leave and long service leave accruals
Other benefits
Total remuneration of senior officers

2013
$000

2012
$000

1,274
31
43
1,348

1,582
38
40
1,660

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the department in respect of senior officers.
There are no senior officers who are presently members of the Government Pension Scheme.
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REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2013
$000

2012
$000

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

307

285

The expense is included in note 8 ‘Supplies and services’.
42

RELATED BODIES
The following Industry Funding Schemes are deemed to be Related Bodies by the Treasurer:
The Cattle Industry Funding Scheme;
The Grains, Seeds and Hay Industry Funding Scheme; and
The Sheep and Goat Industry Funding Scheme
The funds of the three schemes are reported as Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents (note 20) and the movements in Special
Purpose Accounts (note 48).
The transactions and results of these related bodies have been included in the
financial statements.

43

AFFILIATED BODIES
The department had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.
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44 JOINTLY CONTROLLED OPERATIONS
(a) Major Cooperative Research Agreements
Name of Operation
Cooperative Research Centre for Sheep
Cooperative Research Centre for Future Farm Industries
Cooperative Research Centre for Pork
Plant BioSecurity Cooperative Research Centre
Invasive Animals Cooperative Research Centre
(b)

Output Interest (%)
13.30
11.50
5.60
0.00
0.00

Other joint ventures
The department has collaborative arrangements with other parties to perform research and share in the outputs (i.e.
intellectual property) in proportion to each participant’s research input, initial intellectual property or cash contributions.
These collaborative arrangements also share the characteristics of joint venture operations. The principal activities
of these joint venture operations are scientific research and development, extension and technology transfer with the
ultimate aim of sharing in the output. The numbers of this type of arrangement make it impractical to list separately.
The department’s contributions to these joint ventures are included in the department’s operating statements.

45 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ASSETS
The department has shared ownership of crown land and buildings with the Department
of Environment and Conservation which are included in the financial statements. The
following amounts represent the assets employed in the joint ownership, which are
included in the financial statements:
Non-current assets
Land
Building

2013
$000

2012
$000

5,937
69
6,006

5,937
69
6,006

The shared ownership of crown land and buildings with the Department of Environment and Conservation at:
a) Ravensthorpe was established for the purpose co-located facility – depot. Both parties meet all costs equally with regards
to proposed future developments. The Department of Agriculture and Food is responsible for all costs associated with the
disposal of site should it be deemed surplus to their requirements.
b) Forrestfield was established in 1993 to protect flora and fauna located on this site and the department has been responsible
for all costs in regards to maintaining the site and any proposed future developments.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial Instruments held by the department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, Treasurer’s Advances,
receivables and payables. The department has limited exposure to financial risks. The department’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross
carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 45(c) ‘Financial instruments
disclosures’ and note 23 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services
(holding accounts). For receivables other than government, the department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The
department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on a ongoing basis with the result that the department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At
the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence, such as observable data in client credit ratings.
For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 45(c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when the department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The department is exposed to liquidity
risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including
drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The department does trade in foreign currency but
values are not considered material. The department is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity securities
or commodity prices changes). Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 45(c), the department
is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and there are no borrowings.

(b)

Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:
2013
$000

2012
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables(a)
Available for sale financial assets

7,863
38,308
8,837
712

13,751
41,151
8,944
590

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

15,447

18,393

(a) The

amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory
receivable).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit risk
The following table details the department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The
department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets
as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial
assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the department.
The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.
Aged analysis of financial assets

2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts Receivable for Services
Available for sale financial assets
2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts Receivable for Services
Available for sale financial assets

(a)

Past due but not impaired

Carrying
Amount

Not past
due
and not
impaired

Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3 months
to 1 year

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

7,863
38,308
8,837
56,239
712
111,959

7,863
38,308
6,538
56,239
712
109,660

–
–
427
–
–
427

–
–
355
–
–
355

–
–
1,266
–
–
1,266

–
–
146
–
–
146

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
105
–
–
105

13,751
41,151
8,944
52,699
590
117,135

13,751
41,151
6,512
52,699
590
114,703

–
–
755
–
–
755

–
–
917
–
–
917

–
–
251
–
–
251

–
–
151
–
–
151

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
358
–
–
358

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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1-5 years

More than
5 years

Impaired
financial
assets

$000

$000

$000
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46 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and
financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section
analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate

%
2013
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts Receivable for Services
Available for sale financial assets

–
3.40
–
–
–

Interest rate
exposure

Nominal
Amount

Carrying
Amount

Variable
interest
rate

NonInterest
Bearing

$000

$000

$000

7,863
38,308
8,837
56,239
712
111,959

–
25,694
–
–
–
25,694

15,447
15,447

–
–

Maturity dates

Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3
months
to 1 year

1-5
years

More
than 5
years

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

7,863
12,614
8,837
56,239
712
86,265

7,863
38,308
8,837
56,239
712
111,959

7,863
38,308
8,837
56,239
712
111,959

–

–

–

–

–
–

15,447
15,447

15,447
15,447

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Financial Liabilities
Payables

(a)

–

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate
Carrying
Amount

Variable
interest
rate

NonInterest
Bearing

$000

$000

$000

–
4.74
–
–
–

13,751
41,151
8,944
52,699
590
117,134

–
26,162
–
–
–
26,162

-

18,393
18,393

%
2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts Receivable for Services
Available for sale financial assets

Interest rate
exposure

Nominal
Amount

Maturity dates

Up to 1
month

1-3
months

3
months
to 1 year

1-5
years

More
than 5
years

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

13,751
14,989
8,944
52,699
590
90,973

13,751
41,151
8,944
52,699
590
117,134

13,751
41,151
8,944
52,699
590
117,134

–
–
–
–
–
–

18,393
18,393

18,393
18,393

18,393
18,393

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Financial Liabilities
Payables
(a)

-

-

The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the department’s financial assets and liabilities at
the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the
change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
-100 basic points

2013
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Carrying
Amount

Surplus

Equity

Surplus

Equity

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

25,694

Total Increase/(Decrease)

(257)

(257)

257

257

(257)

(257)

257

257

-100 basic points

2012
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

+100 basic popints

+100 basic popints

Carrying
Amount

Surplus

Equity

Surplus

Equity

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

26,162

Total Increase/(Decrease)

(262)

(262)

262

262

(262)

(262)

262

262

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value,
are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable
notes.
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$000
47

SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(a) Write-Offs
Non-current assets
During the financial year $141,017 (2012: $144,884) was written off the
department’s asset register under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
Irrecoverable amounts and inventory
During the financial year $29,949 (2012: $172,069) was written off in bad debts
under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
Biological Assets
During the financial year $60,000 (2012: nil) was written off the department’s ledger under
the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
(b)

48

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public moneys and public and other property through theft or default
Amounts recovered – insurance

INDIAN OCEAN TERRITORIES SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT
The provision of services to the Indian Ocean territories are recouped from the
Commonwealth Government.
Opening balance
Receipts
Payments
Closing balance
115

2012
$000

141
141

145
145

30
30

172
172

60
60

-

10
8
18

14
3
17

133
117
(168)
82

(7)
295
(155)
133
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SPECIAL PURPOSE ACCOUNTS
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1 (Non-Interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of Agricultural research projects.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2013
$000

2012
$000

10,459
22,587
(25,063)
7,983

7,436
76,336
(73,313)
10,459

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2 (Interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of Agricultural research projects.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

3,180
3,399
(3,767)
2,812

2,969
4,496
(4,285)
3,180

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Non-interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct Commonwealth funded
activities.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2,178
2,070
(2,176)
2,072

2,340
2,733
(2,895)
2,178

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct Commonwealth funded
activities.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

116

–
–
–
–

9,118
113
(9,231)
–
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SPECIAL PURPOSE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Plant Research and Development
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct plant research and
development in Western Australia.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2013
$000

2012
$000

6,070
2,132
(1,198)
7,004

5,043
2,632
(1,605)
6,070

Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the cattle industry to enable
industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to serious pest and disease
incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and which are not otherwise
covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at start of period(a)
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

6,115
357
(414)
6,058

6,175
923
(983)
6,115

393
6,735
(6,591)
537

608
4,932
(5,147)
393

(a)

Balance transferred from Agriculture Protection Board

Declared Pest Account
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds collected to carry out measures to
control declared pests on and in relation to areas for which the rates were collected.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
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SPECIAL PURPOSE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Land Conservation Districts Fund
The purpose of the fund is to promote soil conservation through research and
implementation of soil and conservation measures and practices.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2013
$000

2012
$000

106
233
(168)
171

12
124
(30)
106

Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the grain, seeds and hay
industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to
serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and
which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

4,067
3,333
(3,142)
4,258

2,433
4,812
(3,178)
4,067

Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the sheep and goats industry
to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to serious pest
and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and which are
not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

560
859
(413)
1,006

313
916
(669)
560
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DISCLOSURE OF ADMINISTERED INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE
WAMIA

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Grants, subsidies and transfer payment
Interest payments
Other expenses
Total administered expenses
Income
Service Appropriation
Grants and contributions
User charges and fees
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total administered income

Cooperative Loans

Commonwealth
Grants

State NRM
Program

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

2,500
–
1,550
4,050

10,500
–
–
10,500

–
356

30,825
–

24,157
–
4,623
28,780

10,139
–
453
10,592

7,433
–
410
7,843

43,464
356
2,003
45,823

42,090
482
5,009
47,581

–
–
–
–

5,000
–
–

5,000
24,564
75
863

5,000
24,941
10
1,539

356

–
482
(24)
458

30,825

–
–
–
–

–
–
75
356

–
–
10
765

24,564
–
507

24,941
–
774

–

–

–

–

–

–

144

–

144

–

–

–

431

775

25,071

25,715

5,144

5,000

30,646

31,491
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-

-

5,000
–
–
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DISCLOSURE OF ADMINISTERED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE
Cooperative
Loans

WAMIA

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total Administered Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Loan
Interest Receivable
Total Administered Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS

Commonwealth
Grants

State NRM
Program

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

2,318
–
2,318

13,630
–
13,630

599
–
599

485
–
485

1,589
(154)
1,435

7,060
143
7,203

(1,528)
247
(1,281)

3,555
290
3,845

2,978
93
3,071

24,731
433
25,164

–
–
–

–
–
–

6,788
–
6,788

6,170
–
6,170

–
61
61

–
189
189

–
–
–

–
–
–

6,788
61
6,849

6,170
189
6,359

2,318

13,630

7,387

6,655

1,496

7,392

(1,281)

3,845

9,920

31,522

–
182
182

–
–
–

169
–
169

36
–
36

160
–
160

36
5,082
5,118

7,079
182
7,261

Current Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Total Administered Current Liabilities

–

6,750

–
5,082
5,082

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Total Administered Non-Current Liabilities

–

–
–

1,706
1,706

5,988
5,988

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

1,706
1,706

5,988
5,988

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES

–

6,750

6,788

6,170

–

169

36

160

6,824

13,249

6,750
-

120

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013
52

DISCLOSURE OF PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
The prior period adjustment represents the write-off of the accumulated capital expenditure relating to the department’s
Headquarter Redevelopment costs incurred for the Murdoch site between 2006/07 and 2010/11. The write-off of the
accumulated capital expenditure is required to reflect Cabinet’s November 2011 decision. Whereby the Murdoch site was
not being progressed and that the new Headquarters will be established at the department’s South Perth site instead. This
modification is not material or considered to have a significant financial effect upon the reported results, however it was
considered nessary by the department to disclose the details of the modification in the notes to the financial statements to
reflect the movement within its financial statements.
30/06/12

Note

30/06/11
Prior
Previously Prior Period Restated Previously
Period
Reported Adjustment Amount Reported
Adjustment
$000’s
$000’s
$000’s
$000’s
$000’s

Restated
Amount
$000’s

Impact – Statement of Financial Position
Non-Current Assets:
Property plant and equipment

28

218,311

(3,424)

214,887

226,670

(3,424)

223,246

Equity:
Accumulated Surplus

33

28,389

(3,424)

24,967

26,023

(3,424)

22,599
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Additional key performance indicator information
Certification of key performance indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based
on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting
users to assess the Department of Agriculture and Food’s
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the
Department of Agriculture and Food for the financial year ended
30 June 2013.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority
26 September 2013
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Detailed information in support of key performance indicators
DAFWA introduced new KPIs in 2012 and we reported on these for the first time in our 2012 annual report. As such, there is only one
year’s trend data about performance.

Assessing our effectiveness
1. Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
This KPI helps us assess and understand our effectiveness in encouraging industry and others to invest along with us — both in
cash and in-kind — in developing and promoting WA’s agrifood sector.
This distinction is made on the basis that while DAFWA can
continue to exert significant influence on AEGIC’s activities
to ensure they reflect DAFWA’s strategic intent, it is not able
to similarly direct the activities of the commercially-based
InterGrain. As such, InterGrain is not considered here to
represent a ‘DAFWA-led initiative’.

The initiatives considered by this KPI include all work
undertaken or commissioned by us and funded in part by the
state, excluding those in which we play a purely administrative
role.
We gain co-investment mainly through the Commonwealth’s
rural research and development corporations, with this funding
originating through a mix of government and levy-based
industry sources. We also include elements of joint programs,
including those within Cooperative Research Centres (CRCs)
that we lead to fulfil our own objectives.

We succeeded during 2012/13 in attracting $59 million in
co-investment, equivalent to 39.3% of our overall net cost
of service (Table 6). This is above both our 2012/13 target of
35.1% and 2011/12 result of 36.5%.
Table 6 Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives

The KPI also includes co-investment through entities created
as a means of building collaboration — such as the Australian
Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC) — but excludes
that from entities established to ensure the successful
commercialisation of activities no longer requiring direct
government support — such as InterGrain Pty Ltd.

Co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
(% NCoS*)

2011/12
Actual
(%)
36.5

2012/13
Target
(%)
35.1

Source: DAFWA *NCoS: net cost of service
123

2012/13
Variation
Actual
(%)
(%)
39.3
4.2%
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The increase came about primarily though the operational
commencement of both AEGIC and a DAFWA-led program
within the Plant Biosecurity Cooperative Research Centre. Third
party contributions to these two initiatives represented coinvestment of $5.6 million and $4.9 million respectively.

The level of co-investment is a strong indicator that the vision
we espouse for securing and developing the sector’s future
— and our approach to making that happen — are shared by
industry and others willing to invest in the sector.
We consider that the department has met this KPI.

2. Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has influenced profitability
This KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the profitability of their industry over the previous 12 months. It helps us
assess and understand our effectiveness in fostering the profitability of the sector as a whole.
The result is derived from a survey question that asked
respondents to score our impact from zero to 10, with zero
representing no impact. We believe this is essentially the most
telling question we could ask of industry: did we make you more
profitable?

This year’s survey was undertaken in June 2013 and captured
the views of 402 respondents made up of 307 producers, 61
intermediaries (primarily processors, marketers and exporters)
and 34 agricultural consultants.
Producer respondents were drawn primarily from the state’s
major agricultural industries — grains, sheep, beef and
horticulture.

A score of six and above is considered to represent a significant
positive impact — and is the formal benchmark for assessment
— while a score of five is considered moderate.

Table 7 Threshold stocking and production levels for
producers considered in the 2013 survey

The survey used for this and the two following indicators was
independently designed, executed and analysed by Painted Dog
Research. Its design offered an overall margin of error of 3.9%.
To the extent possible, the survey focused on larger producers,
as per the following threshold criteria (Table 7). No such criteria
were applied to horticultural producers because of the diversity
of production systems involved. Similarly, no such criteria were
applied to processors, exporters or consultants.

Principal product type
Sheep
Grain
Dairy
Beef – agricultural
Beef – pastoral

124

Threshold
>2000 head
>500 tonnes harvested
>350 head
>500 head
>2500 head
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We do not expect to be able to record consistently high scores
in questions such as this as it is unlikely any organisation can
bring about significant and readily observable changes every
year for every industry. While we are looking to increase these
scores over time, we do not expect we will achieve results
in excess of about 50% — that is, effectively any one in two
respondents being able to see a significant improvement in any
one year.

This year’s survey indicated that, across all respondents, 29%
considered that we had made a significant impact on the
profitability of their industry over the past year (Table 8).
This overall result was less than our budget expectation of
32%. However, given the range of issues faced by the sector
throughout 2012/13, including concerns about liquidity
and equity levels and a lack of rain, this result is seen as
encouraging.

Table 9 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the
profitability of their industry, by respondent group

There were no statistically significant differences from last year
for either the producer or consultant group, but a significant
reduction (9%) for the intermediary group (Table 9). We will seek
further information from this group to determine the cause of
this reduction.

Respondent group

Producers
Intermediaries (processors,
marketers and exporters)
Consultants
Average (all respondents)

Table 8 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the
profitability of their industry, actual v. target
2011/12
Actual
(%)
Proportion of
businesses that
consider DAFWA
influenced
profitability

30.2

2012/13
Target
(%)

32.0

2012/13
Actual
(%)

29.3

Variation
(%)

Score (6 and above)
2012/13
2011/12
Variation
(%)
(%)
(%)
31
30
ns*
23
32
–9

Source: Painted Dog Research, 2013
*ns: not statistically significant

–2.7

Source: Painted Dog Research, 2013
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Combating frost one degree at a time
Frost damage remains a serious issue for the WA grains industry with
DAFWA continuing to undertake research and development in 2012/13 to
reduce the impact on yield losses.

The long-term goal of the research is to develop grain varieties with less
sensitivity to frost.
Research findings will be made available to growers.

DAFWA and the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC)
have invested significantly in R&D to help combat the estimated $100
million in yield losses each year caused by frost.
This research will provide the grains industry with essential information
to help select varieties that are more tolerant and improve overall frost
risk management planning.

Frost is a difficult problem to solve so it is very
encouraging that this research is being undertaken as it
should lead to better crop yields.
— Garry Lang, Wyoming Downs grower
DAFWA research officer Dr Ben Biddulph said the research to date had
shown that under severe frost conditions (temperatures below –4˚C
for wheat and below –6˚C for barley), all current varieties were equally
susceptible to frost damage.
However, under less damaging conditions (temperatures greater than
–2˚C for wheat and –4˚C for barley) there were differences between
current commercial varieties.
“The small differences between varieties needs to be better understood
to determine if growers can minimise frost damage through variety
selection, and industry can reduce frost susceptibility through breeding,”
Dr Biddulph said.

DAFWA research officer Dr Ben Biddulph uses an infrared thermometer to
determine the frost sensitivities of a wheat crop.
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3. Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered innovation
We consider innovation to be about “making changes that add value”. This KPI is based on respondents’ views of our impact over the
past 12 months on their future ability to make changes that add value. It helps us assess and understand our effectiveness in ensuring
that they have the skills, tools and information needed to be innovative.
Table 10 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on their
ability to make changes that add value, actual v. target

The result is derived from the same survey outlined on
page 124, with respondents asked to score our impact from
zero to 10, with scores of six and above representing a
significant positive impact.
Overall, 30% of respondents scored our impact on increasing
their capacity to make changes that add value at 6 or above.
This is in line with our 2011/12 result and 2012/13 target
(Table 10).
There was no change in the score reported by the producer
group (31%) but a statistically significant (–10%) decrease
in the score by the consultant group (Table 11). The reason
for this decrease is currently unclear; and the department is
investigating the change.

Respondent group

2011/12
Actual
(%)

2012/13
Target
(%)

2012/13
Actual
(%)

Variation
(%)

Proportion of
businesses that
consider DAFWA
increased their ability
to make changes that
add value

30.3

32.0

30.0

–2.0

Table 11 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on their
ability to make changes that add value, by respondent group

The increase observed in the intermediary group is not
statistically significant.

Respondent group

Both movements tend to move the individual respondent
groups’ scores closer to the overall average of 30%.

Producers
Intermediaries
Consultants

Score (6 and above)
2012/13
2011/12
Variation
(%)
(%)
(%)
31
31
—
28
23
ns*
27
37
–10

Source (tables 10 and 11): Painted Dog Research, 2013
*ns: not statistically significant
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Securing the future of WA’s sheep industry
We had 52 staff members participate in the More Sheep
initiative and it equipped them with valuable technical
skills to deliver to our clients. — Nino Gullotti, Landmark

Western Australia’s flock has increased from 14 million in mid-2011 to
14.4 million in 2012 — an increase of 2.8%.
More Sheep, an industry-wide collaboration led by DAFWA and the
Sheep Industry Leadership Council (SILC) to secure the future of the
WA sheep industry, has played an important and multifaceted role in
contributing to that increase.

(supplier of agribusiness products and services)

The initiative has identified that increased lambing rates is key to
improving profitability and the sustainability of WA’s sheep industry. As
such, More Sheep trained 153 agribusiness staff in 2012/13 to improve
their sheep reproduction technical skills to assist producers increase
their lamb marking rates.
Initiative partner CSBP trained 30 staff to deliver Lifetime Ewe
management to producer clients to improve their bottom line.
More than 74 producer-friendly toolboxes of sheep management were
displayed in stock agencies and department offices around WA — made
possible by funding from Australian Wool Innovation.
More Sheep also inducted 39 inaugural members into its 100%+ Club,
an initiative to champion producers with a marking rate of 100% or more
to boost the state’s sheep flock.
Additionally, More Sheep supported SILC with the development of the
first WA Sheep Industry Strategic Plan 2025+, which was launched for
industry consultation in October 2012.

More Sheep Taskforce members Mandy Curnow and Justin Hardy deliver
the first More Sheep display box at the Albany Landmark store to Division
Merchandise Manager Nino Gullotti (right).
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4. Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has influenced sustainability
This KPI, which is based on respondents’ views of our impact on the sustainability of their industry over the previous 12 months,
helps us to assess and understand our effectiveness in fostering the sustainability of the sector as a whole.
As with the “profitability” question, the intermediary group
scored us significantly lower (8%) than last year. Conversely, the
consultant group scored us significantly higher (9%) than last
year (Table 13). There was no significant change in the score
recorded for the producer group.

The result is derived from the same survey referred to in
effectiveness indicator 1, with a similar question asking
respondents to score our impact from zero to 10, with scores
of six and above being considered to represent a significant
positive impact. The respondent group was the same as that
reported for effectiveness indicator 1.
As with 2011/12, results were higher than those attained for
the “profitability” question, with 32% of respondents scoring
our impact as significant (a score of six or more) and 57% as
moderate or above (five or more).

The increased score reported for consultants may be caused
by an increasing focus on sustainability issues, with this being a
reasonable response to a changing and more variable climate,
and the increased biosecurity risks that stem from the increasing
levels of travel and transport into WA.

The overall result of 32.1% was slightly below last year (33.7%)
and our target of 35% (Table 12).

Table 13 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the
sustainability of their industry, by respondent group

Table 12 Respondents’ ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the
sustainability of their industry, actual v. target

Proportion of businesses
that consider DAFWA has
influenced sustainability

2011/12
Actual
(%)

2012/13
Target
(%)

33.7

35.0

Respondent group

2012/13
Variation
Actual
(%)
(%)
32.1

Producers
Intermediaries
Consultants

–2.9

Score (6 and above)
2012/13
2011/12
Variation
(%)
(%)
(%)
33
34
ns*
28
36
–8
35
26
9

Source: Painted Dog Research, 2013
*ns: not statistically significant

Source: Painted Dog Research, 2013

The reason for the reduction in the score from the intermediary
group is not clear, although most intermediaries are not affected
by environmental sustainability issues to the same degree as
producers or their consultants.
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Rapid response to citrus gall wasp infestation
From a grower’s point of view, every time we get control
of an outbreak of a new pest like this it is a great result
for everyone. — Shane Kay, Bindoon citrus grower and Chair of

Having the foresight to investigate the potential for citrus gall wasp to
spread to WA and damage the state’s citrus industry paid off for DAFWA in
2012/13.
Following reports that citrus gall wasp had caused significant damage
in other states and territories, we undertook a pest risk analysis for WA,
which proved invaluable after signs of citrus gall wasp were reported on a
property in suburban Perth.

Fruitwest Citrus Leadership Group

A citrus gall wasp infestation results in distinctive woody galls on citrus
twigs, which can contain hundreds of larvae. Heavy infestations result in
very little leaf or fruit production and severe tree dieback.
The wasp could cause significant production losses for the state’s citrus
industry, which has a farm-gate value of about $18 million a year.
In March 2013, the Domestic Quarantine and Market Access Working
Group accepted the pest risk assessment component of the analysis,
without modification.
In April, a resident sent a suspect twig sample to our Pest and Disease
Information Service (PaDIS) for analysis. The pest risk assessment allowed
for the quick identification of citrus gall wasp and a rapid response.
Plant Biosecurity staff surveyed the surrounding area, inspecting more than
2000 citrus trees. The findings indicated the wasp, which likely entered WA
via nursery stock, was restricted to two properties. Following consultation
with the industry committee, Fruitwest, eradication measures were
undertaken.
We plan to continue surveillance in 2013/14.
130

DAFWA staff were involved in the assessment, surveillance and eradication
of citrus gall wasp. Back row: Mark Pleysier, Marc Widmer, John van
Schagen, Richard Johnston and Bill Trend. Front row: Vicki Mangano,
Oonagh Byrne, Maria Mignogna and Marc Poole. Missing is Bob McNeice.
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Services
Government has traditionally fostered economic performance by
lifting productivity and mitigating risks. While these roles remain
important, to attain real growth, it is sometimes necessary to
make transformative advances in the way industry works.

Figure 6 Impact of DAFWA’s three services on sector
performance
Transformative
growth
Performance

Our three new services recognise the need to support each of
these three types of activity. This was the first year our work has
been structured under these three services. As such, the trend
data presented in this section relates to approximations based
on re-attributing our 2011/12 program against each new service.
We seek to increase productivity uplift through our business and
supply chain development service; we seek to mitigate risks
through our resource risk management service; and we seek to
help mature industries transform their mix of products, markets
and business models through transformational development.
The complementary role of each of these services is illustrated
in Figure 6; and our efficiency in delivering them is outlined on
the next page.

Productivity uplift
2025+

Risk mitigation
Our first two services aim to improve sector performance through steady
productivity uplift and step-wise transformational growth (solid lines) while
our third service is focused on avoiding the risks that would otherwise reduce
performance (dotted line).
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Efficiency indicators

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWAled initiatives related to this service as a factor of
the net cost of this service

The efficiency with which we undertake each of our three
services is estimated by the same two indicators: net service
cost of each service as a factor of gross value of agricultural
production (GVAP); and the extent of co-investment we attract
to each service. These KPIs were introduced in 2012 and were
used as the basis for assessing our performance against our old
services in last year’s annual report.

Co-investment is used here as an indicator of our efficiency in
being able to leverage the Western Australian government’s
investment by persuading other parties — across other
governments, industry and the broader community — to invest
in the same strategic goals we seek to achieve.

This is the first time they have been used to assess the
efficiency of our new services. The figures for 2011/12 reported
here are estimates based on a re-casting of all our 2011/12
activities against the three new services.

The criteria used to establish which forms of co-investment are
considered under these KPIs are outlined on page 123.

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
This indicator relates to efforts in supporting the economic
development of the agrifood sector by way of each of our
services. It compares our investment in each area with the
economic returns that flow from those industries, with that
return being approximated as GVAP for WA as calculated by the
Australian Bureau of Statistics.
The GVAP figure used in these KPIs ($6 416 million) is a rolling
five-year average to minimise the annual variability that results
from seasonal and other influences. GVAP understates the
overall economic activity of the sector, as the calculations do
not include any of the activity that happens past the farm gate.
However, it is the most consistent, independent and broadly
based benchmark relevant to the sector.
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Service 1 Business and supply chain development
This service is about providing leadership and specialist expertise that further develops the state’s existing and emerging agrifood
industries in the short-to-medium term. It supports businesses in increasing the yield, quality and marketability of their existing
and emerging products; and in managing the associated business risks.
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost
of this service

Our focus is primarily on addressing the more-immediate
issues that face industry, with an emphasis on business and
productivity issues and an aim to foster coordinated growth
across entire supply chains rather than just within individual
businesses.

The extent of this co-investment is a strong indicator of our
ability to leverage the state’s investment by bringing along other
parties that share our intent.

The service contributes to the government’s goal of achieving
“a stronger focus on the regions” and our single outcome of
“a profitable, innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that
benefits Western Australia”.

We increased our co-investment in regard to this service above
the target figure of 42.6% (Table 14). However, that target
was based on initial estimates — made before the service was
implemented — which suggested that the level of co-investment
in this area during 2011/12 was around 35%, whereas the actual
re-cast figure for 2011/12 was 46.1%.

Efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP

While the department met this performance indicator for
2012/13, we now consider that the target was unduly low. We
expect the level of co-investment to increase in future years.

This indicator relates to efforts in helping industries increase the
yield, quality and marketability of their existing and emerging
products.

Table 14 Business and supply chain development efficiency
indicators

Table 14 shows that the net cost of this service represented
1.22% of the gross value of WA’s agricultural production, slightly
‘better’ than the target of 1.3% (a lower value represents a more
efficient service).

2011/12 2012/13 2012/13
Variation
Actual
Target
Key indicators of efficiency Actual
(%)
(%)
(%)
(%)
Net service cost as a factor
1.12
1.3
1.22
–0.08
of GVAP
Co-investment related to
46.1
40.7
42.6
1.9
this service (% of NCoS*)

We expect this indicator to trend downwards over coming years,
reflecting our growing focus on fostering transformative growth
(Service 2) to balance the more-traditional roles associated with
this service.

Source: DAFWA, ABS *NCoS: net cost of services

We consider the department has met this performance indicator.
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Exploring new agricultural frontiers in WA’s north
DAFWA has played a leading role in opening up thousands of hectares in
WA’s north for sustainable agricultural development.

The high calibre of the work by DAFWA, their patience
and belief on what were environmentally sound
approaches and advocacy saved the project a potential
$30 million in capital costs. — Peter Stubbs, Project Director,

We have undertaken extensive scientific research to inform and facilitate
the final design and environmental approvals necessary to support the
expansion of agriculture in the eastern Kimberley region known as the
Ord–East Kimberley Expansion Project.

Department of Regional Development
The expansion is based around the 320km-long Ord River, with a
catchment of 46 100 square kilometres, including Lake Argyle.
In 2010, the State Government asked DAFWA to help develop the Ord
Stage 2 expansion project by undertaking risk assessment and design
to support investment decisions. By the end of 2012, DAFWA staff
had completed 400 days of fieldwork and 1000 days of analysis and
consultation.
Our significant efforts came to fruition in September 2011 (project
approved by the Federal Environment Minister) and November 2012,
when Chinese company, Kimberley Agricultural Investment (KAI) was
named as the preferred proponent to lease and develop 13 400ha into
irrigated farmland.
KAI proposes to invest up to $700 million over the next six years to
establish a sugar industry in Kununurra, to produce about four million
tonnes of cane annually and half a million tonnes of sugar crystal for
export.

The Ord River
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Service 2 Transformational development
All industries, regardless of their sector, are continually faced with reinventing themselves to remain competitive and attractive
to customers and investors. Such “transformation” typically involves a fundamental change to their mix of products, markets or
business model. A number of WA’s agrifood industries are currently facing such challenges.
implemented — which suggested our expenditure in this area
was at around 0.2%, whereas the actual re-cast figure for
2011/12 was 0.3%.

This service aims to support these industries by providing
leadership and specialist expertise that helps them ensure
their long-term economic viability and growth. This is central to
the sector’s ability to remain globally competitive and make a
substantially greater contribution to the state’s economy.

The result means that, over the past year, DAFWA spent
around 23 cents for every $100 generated “at the farm gate”
in supporting the industry in its efforts to transform its range of
products, markets and business models. We expect this value
to increase in future years as we increase our emphasis on this
service.

Closely linked to the “innovation” element of our outcome
statement, this service ensures industry has the skills and
information needed to “make change that adds value”, that is,
to innovate.

Table 15 Transformational development efficiency indicators

This service lies at the heart of our Agrifood 2025+ initiative,
which is based on supporting industry to establish and
execute a plan to double the real value of sales across the
sector by 2025. The service was developed in response to
the government’s vision of an agrifood sector that is able to
adapt to a changing world and flourish into the 21st century. It
contributes to the government’s goal of achieving “a stronger
focus on the regions” and our single outcome of “a profitable,
innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits WA”.

Key indicators of
efficiency
Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP
Co-investment related to
this service as a factor of
NCoS*

Efficiency indicators

Sources: DAFWA; ABS
*NCoS: net cost of service

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
The result for this KPI for 2012/13 of 0.23% is higher than our
target figure of 0.20% (Table 15). However, that target was
based on initial estimates — made before the service was
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2012/13
Variation
Actual
(%)
(%)

2011/12
Actual
(%)

2012/13
Target
(%)

0.30

0.20

0.23

0.03

19.5

25.6

23.4

–2.2
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Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost of
this service
Co-investment related to this service represented 23.4% of the
net cost to government of the service — a value we are looking
to increase as our focus on transformational development
increases. The 2012/13 result represents a 3.9% increase
over that estimated for 2011/12, but is still slightly short of our
optimistic 2012/13 target (Table 15).
We consider the department has met this performance indicator.

Service 3 Resource risk management
It is essential that industry has access to, understands and applies practices that maintain or improve the health of the
state’s natural resources — land, soil, native vegetation, biodiversity and water. This service ensures that industry has these
characteristics, enabling it to grow while responsibly managing these resources.
The service involves building partnerships and capabilities
needed by industry and communities to properly use and
safeguard our natural resources; and to simultaneously manage
business, environmental and social risks. It contributes to
the government’s goal of “building social and environmental
responsibility” and our outcome of “a profitable, innovative and
sustainable agrifood sector that benefits WA”.

WA’s agricultural and pastoral landholders manage 97 million
hectares (nearly 40% of the state’s land mass) using diverse
production systems spread over a wide range of climatic and
environmental conditions.
This service is central to minimising the risk that exotic
biosecurity threats — weeds, pests and diseases — represent to
WA’s broader community and environment, including those that
may be introduced from overseas and those that are endemic in
the eastern states but not WA. This is essential to maintaining
the physical environment and amenity all Western Australians
value and enjoy.
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Efficiency indicators

Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives related to this service as a factor of the net cost
of this service

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
The cost to government of this service in 2012/13 represented
0.9% of GVAP, which is lower than our 2012/13 target and
2011/12 estimated actual costs (Table 16). This difference
stems primarily from the forecast shift in actual expenditure from
Service 1 to Service 3 being less pronounced than anticipated
(see also Note 39).

The level of co-investment we attracted in regard to this service
in 2012/13 (38.8%) was greater than both that estimated for
2011/12 (29.4%), and the 2012/13 target of 31.3%. We consider
the department met this performance indicator.
As outlined above, this result is in part caused by the proposed
shift in expenditure from Service 1 to Service 3 being less
pronounced than anticipated (see also Note 39).

We expect this indicator to increase over coming years as this
shift progresses. As the value is below the target — representing
a more efficient service — we consider the department met this
performance indicator.

We expect the value of this indicator to decline as our focus on
resource risk management increases and, accordingly, the net
cost of service increases.

Table 16 Resource risk management efficiency indicators
Key indicators of
efficiency
Net service cost as a
factor of GVAP
Co-investment related
to this service as a
factor of NCoS*

2012/13
Variation
Actual
(%)
(%)

2011/12
Actual
(%)

2012/13
Target
(%)

1.17

1.30

0.90

–0.40

29.4

31.3

38.8

7.5

Source: DAFWA, ABS.
*NCoS: net cost of service
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Boosting capacity for early animal disease detection
The department has undertaken a number of initiatives to strengthen
WA’s capacity for early detection of emergency animal diseases.

The department also created a monthly e-newsletter for private
veterinarians. WA Livestock Disease Outlook (WALDO) keeps
stakeholders informed of recent cases of livestock disease and provides
information about disease issues likely to occur in the next month.

Early detection reduces the spread of disease, minimising the impact on
individual producers and the livestock industry.

Following positive feedback, a livestock producer version of the
newsletter was also developed.

Our focus during the year was on improving collaboration between
producers, private veterinarians and the department’s 10 field veterinary
officers.

DAFWA’s excellent publication, the WA Livestock
Disease Outlook, provides the latest information on
current livestock health issues as well as disease issues
likely to occur in the coming month.

In early 2013, field veterinary officers held workshops for 45 private
veterinarians on livestock health surveillance in Albany, Bunbury,
Dongara and Northam.

— Edward Riggall, livestock consultant
WALDO is circulated to private veterinarians, livestock agents, livestock
consultants, producers and department staff, and the producer version is
available from the DAFWA website.
Our Significant Disease Investigation Program — which subsidises the
cost of significant disease investigations (SDIs) conducted by private
veterinarians — continued to contribute to improved early detection
rates.
The program encourages producers to report diseases with signs
similar to those on the reportable disease list and private veterinarians
to investigate them thoroughly. In 2012/13, 68 SDIs were carried out; 11
involved testing that ruled out an emergency animal disease.

Department veterinarians regularly collaborate with private veterinarians
to ensure they will recognise and report diseases that would damage the
livestock industries and markets.
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Ministerial directives

Other financial disclosures

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.

Pricing policies of services provided
The department charges on a full or partial cost recovery basis
for some goods and services, with fees and charges determined
in accordance with costing and pricing government services
published by the Department of Treasury. The 2012/13 list
of fees and charges were implemented on 1 July 2012, as
published in the Gazette.
Services may be exempted from charges, in particular services
that are deemed essential for a competent analysis of a problem
by an officer; where the service relates to an outbreak of a
suspected exotic disease; where the service involves approved
research or surveillance; or where the service meets other
conditions that may be declared by the Director General from
time to time.
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Capital works
Table 17 Capital works projects

Capital works projects incomplete
DAFWA headquarters redevelopment, including
Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre
Capital projects completed
Capital Equipment Replacement Program

Cost
variation
$000

Year of
completion

Approved
budget
$000

Total cost
(estimated)
$000

To be confirmed

233 989

233 989

In the planning phase

2013

4300

4200

Project completed to budget

Explanation of variation

Property rationalisation program

Capital equipment replacement program

The department’s 2012/13 Strategic Asset Plan identified
surplus DAFWA properties in the metropolitan and regional
areas of the state. These surplus properties continue to be sold
through the government’s disposal process.

We purchased core research and business capital equipment
to meet our changing business drivers and to replace ageing
equipment within our capital fund budget limitations for
2012/13.

New metropolitan headquarters project
Work progressed toward the redevelopment of our South
Perth headquarters. A project definition plan was completed,
confirming base funding and timelines for delivery. We are
working on key transitional activities in readiness for the
construction phase. The planned completion date for the project
is subject to pending government decisions.
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Increasing the competitiveness of WA’s export grain
A growing appetite for a western, bread-based diet, an expanded demand
for noodles among Asia’s rising middle class and a thirst for high-quality
beer in Asia and Africa are some of the new opportunities that await
Australia’s export grains industry.

AEGIC is delivering national leadership and facilitating
collaboration and capacity building in the sector with
the end goal to return enhanced value to growers.

The Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC) was officially
opened in November 2012 to take the lead in enabling Australian growers
to seize these opportunities.

— Robert Sewell, AEGIC Chair

Jointly founded by the GRDC and DAFWA, the purpose of AEGIC is to
support the trade and use of Australian grains across the world.
As the “front door” agency representing Australia’s export grains
industry, AEGIC’s goal is to understand the market requirements of, and
opportunities presented by, Australia’s major customers — and ensure
growers can meet and capture them.
Through comprehensive engagement with major trading partners,
AEGIC’s market experts are creating a more informed appreciation of the
quality and functionality of our grain.
The engagement is also revealing ways in which Australia’s product can
be improved, including through innovative processing methods and fasttracked accreditation of new varieties.
Innovation is driving AEGIC’s grain quality research and development
(R&D) portfolio, which is focused on positioning Australian export grains
as the product of preference across key markets.

Grain grower and long-time industry leader Robert Sewell is the Chair of
the Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC), which opened in
November 2012.
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Employment and industrial relations

Employee development

Table 18 Staff profile and work classification profile (FTE)

Employee development continues to focus on building a highly
professional and agile workforce able to adapt to changing
technology, knowledge and environments. Key activities for
2012/13 included:

Staff profile (FTE)
Full-time permanent
Full-time contract
Part-time permanent
Part-time contract
On secondment in from other agencies
On secondment out to other agencies
Total

2013
904
98
112
32
10
6
1162

2012
896
118
122
45
10
7
1191

•

offering Aboriginal cadetships and traineeships in NRM,
economics, policy, administration, information technology
and rural operations

•

continuing the My Job and Development Plan (MyPlan) —
coaching for performance management

•

conducting an Employee Engagement Survey in March
2013 — 569 completed responses (45% response
rate). Results from this survey, together with the Public Sector
Commission Employee Perception Survey of March 2013
(653 responses, 53% response rate), will help inform and
influence engagement and people management projects
and initiatives. The results from the inaugural 2011 Employee
Engagement Survey, helped inform and influence projects
and initiatives such as our oneDAFWA ways of working
(staff behaviours), staff-to-project allocation system and the
corporate induction process

•

conducting professional development courses for the
department’s “People Leaders” through the People
Leadership Development Program to promote and
accommodate a strong leadership culture and capability.
This program addressed skills development in performance
management, applying elements of the MyPlan staff
performance and development process and situational
leadership. Our People Leadership Program is part of a
broader change initiative designed to build high-performing,
customer-focused teams across the organisation

Figure 7 FTE Levels at 30 June 2008–2013
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Workplace reform

holding our first conference for our grievance and contact
officer network. This conference was initiated to further
develop skills in facilitating grievance resolution in the
workplace and to recognise the valuable contribution this
group makes in maintaining a harmonious workplace

Consistent with government policy on labour relations, DAFWA
has an Agency Specific Agreement (ASA) that covers industrial
matters. This agreement includes entitlements that provide
the department and staff with mutually beneficial conditions
of employment and cost-effective work practices. A process
of continuous review of conditions of employment and work
practices occurs in consultation with staff, managers and
relevant unions. The parties have agreed to continue current
ASA arrangements.

making changes to our corporate induction program,
including the inclusion of an induction meeting, where new
employees are welcomed to our department personally
by the Director General and the Executive team. This
meeting enables new employees to understand how their
roles directly contribute to our Strategic Plan, and the
importance of our department’s oneDAFWA ways of working
in supporting our employees in making a difference to the
sector

Training
We continue to strive to develop and maintain a highly skilled,
professional and equitable workforce through continuous
learning, including mandatory training for employees in cultural
awareness, equal employment opportunities, occupational
safety and health, driver safety, driver development and basic
first aid.

reviewing our Criteria Progression Guidelines to provide
clarity to progression criteria; and to increase readability and
user friendliness of the guidelines.

Corporate support reform

Key activities during 2012/13 were:

On 20 July 2011, the government announced that the Office of
Shared Services (OSS) was to be decommissioned, returning
corporate service functions to agencies. Our department was
scheduled to exit the OSS in June 2013; however, the “go-live”
date of DAFWA’s new finance and procurement system was
deferred one month, from 1 July to 1 August 2013.
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•

running face-to-face and online training courses, with
almost 1000 employees completing a training activity

•

delivering a new Advanced Performance Management
course for People Leaders statewide, with 119 employees
participating. The course was very well received and will
also be offered to Project Managers in the future

•

implementing a new cultural awareness training course,
which now includes multicultural awareness as well as
Aboriginal cultural awareness
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Staff sustainability project

creating and delivering our Indigenous Australian Cultural
Awareness Stage 2 course for employees who work
closely with Aboriginal people and communities as clients.
This course will be rolled out statewide; 33 employees in
Kununurra and Broome have already completed the course

•

continuing to offer discipline-specific training to employees
as identified through their MyPlans

•

helping establish the Kimberley Region Training Network,
with a number of regional government and private
organisations working together to identify collaborative
training opportunities.

This project, a key part of our organisational transformation
program, is designed to attract, engage and retain a talented
and committed workforce. Key elements of the project in
2012/13 were the implementation of a new performance
management system that better suits our needs and a review of
our graduate and undergraduate programs.
A key part of the project is our Quality of Life initiative,
which promotes a working environment that is supportive of
employees’ quality of life in nine areas, including family, health,
personal growth and community. Key achievements for 2012/13
were:

Table 19 Mandatory staff training completion rates
Mandatory training course
Recordkeeping awareness training
Accountable and ethical decision
making
EEO awareness training
Cultural awareness training
Occupational safety and health
Driver training

*Target (%)
100
100

**Actual (%)
98
95

•

continued support for at-work flu vaccinations

•

provision of seminars and information on superannuation
and retirement planning to assist a positive transition to
retirement

100
100
95
99

93
88
98
98

•

continued support of the Bank Your Blood program where
staff donate blood to the Australian Red Cross

•

promotion of corporate health insurance package options.

* Target 100% – does not include those on contract for less than six
months, trainees/cadets and board members
** Actual as at 30 June 2013
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Governance disclosures

Table 20 Audit committee members and meetings attended

Contracts with senior officers
Member

At 30 June 2013, other than normal contracts of employment of
service, no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are
members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial
interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts
with the department and senior officers.

Rob Delane, (incoming Chair) Director General DAFWA
Margaret Nowak (outgoing Chair), an independent
member. (Resigned January 2013)
Jeremy Hawke, an independent member and General
Manager, Finance with the Department of Mines and
Petroleum. Extensive experience as a chief internal
audit executive. (Resigned March 2013)
Kieth Van Dongen, an independent member and
Executive Director, Corporate Services, Department of
Fisheries. (Joined February 2013)
Alain St Flour, an independent member and Executive
Director, Finance, North Metropolitan Health Service.
(Joined February 2013)
Andrew Harvey, an independent member and Deputy
Inspector, Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services.
(Joined March 2013)

Shares held by the department
The department does not hold shares in any subsidiary body as
defined by section 60 of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Audit committee
The department’s Audit Committee advises the Director General
and the Executive on the application and promotion of good
governance throughout the organisation. The committee’s
role is to review and provide advice on governance processes
with a focus on control, risk management, follow-up of audit
recommendations and oversight of internal audit functions. The
2012/13 financial year marked a period of renewal for the Audit
committee with two long-serving members, Ms Novak and Mr
Hawke, resigning and three new members joining, as outlined
in Table 20. The new members have a wide range of experience
and the Audit Committee continues to be well placed to provide
advice to the Director General.
The committee meets quarterly with regular attendees, including
a senior officer from the Office of the Auditor General, the
department’s Executive Director of Corporate Strategy and
Operations, and the Director of Finance.
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Meetings
attended
2012/13
4
4
3

2

1

0

Disclosures and legal compliance

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Enterprise risk management

Finance committee

The department is committed to effective risk management
to support our operational objectives. Our risk management
framework, which is subject to continuous review, includes:

The Finance committee was established in December 2009
and meets monthly. The committee members are the Director
General, the Chief Finance Officer and all Executive Directors.
The committee’s role is to:

•

a risk management policy and procedure manual to ensure
compliance with international risk management standard
ISO31000, Treasurer’s Instruction 825 and the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Good Governance Guide and Circulars

•

determine options to address funding pressures within the
department

•

integration of risk management with strategic planning

•

•

the development and implementation of a risk module
within the project management system

provide advice with respect to making significant financial
decisions

•

understand the status of program, tactic and priority
resource investments highlighting resourcing issues

•

determine the disbursement of the financial and FTE
(people) resources.

•

a strategic risk management register.

The department’s Audit committee regularly monitors the
completeness and effectiveness of the risk management
framework.
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Other legal requirements
Compliance issues that arose during 2012/13:

Compliance with public sector standards and
ethical codes
Compliance issues that arose during 2012/13 regarding public
sector standards (i.e. breach claims):

Fourteen matters were dealt with in accordance with the
breach of discipline process pursuant to the Public Sector
Management Act 1994. They related to:

Table 21 Compliance issues/breach claims

• making unauthorised comments and misrepresentation
(three matters)

Applications carried over
New applications received
Total applications
Breach claims lodged
Recruitment, selection and appointment
Transfer
Grievance resolution
Outcome of claims handled
Withdrawn in agency
Resolved in agency
Still pending in agency
Referred to Public Sector Commission
Total applications completed

2011/12
0
5
5

a)

• inappropriate behaviour towards a member of the public
(one)

2012/13
1
3
4

• inappropriate use of a departmental asset (one)
• fraudulent claims for time in lieu (one)
• misuse of a government vehicle (one)

4
0
4

3
0
1

2
0
0
3
3

0
0
0
4*
4

• substandard performance (one)
• misuse of a corporate credit card (one)
• unauthorised leave and misuse of a corporate credit card
(one)
• an altercation involving four departmental officers (four).

* The Public Sector Commission rejected all four claims.

b)

Three of the above matters relating to the possible
misconduct of DAFWA officers were reported to the
Corruption and Crime Commission.

c)

Significant action taken to monitor and ensure compliance
included:
• reviewing and updating internal policies to ensure
consistency with changes to the legislative instruments
that regulate public sector employment
• updating the Contact Officer and Grievance Officer
network and training officers bi-annually
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Freedom of information

• the continued roll-out of the Accountable and
Ethical Decision Making training program across the
organisation

A description of the types of information and documents
the department holds and how to access information under
the Freedom of Information Act 1992 is contained in our
Information Statement. The statement is reviewed annually and
is made available to the public on our website. The number
of FOI applications received in 2012/13 was significantly less
than received the previous year. Most applications related to
regulatory matters under a range of statutes administered by the
department.

• providing a written reminder to staff not compliant with
our mandatory training requirements, informing them
training is to be completed within a specified timeframe.

Ethics and integrity
Our department promotes ethical behaviour and integrity. For all
new employees, an online induction course contains modules
on ethics, integrity and the requirements of the Public Interest
Disclosure Act 2003. It is compulsory for all new employees to
satisfactorily complete these modules.

Table 22 Freedom of information applications 2012/13
FOI
Applications carried over
New applications received
Total applications
Application outcome
Applications transferred in full
Applications withdrawn
Applications processed
Total applications completed
Applications outstanding at 30 June
Application types
Personal information requests
Non-personal information requests
Request to amend personal information

In addition, our mandatory online training course in Accountable
and Ethical Decision Making has had excellent uptake since
its commencement in 2010, with more than 90% of employees
having completed or partially completed the course. Our
department requires all employees to complete the Equal
Employment Opportunity (EEO) awareness course, which also
covers aspects of ethics and integrity.
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0
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Complaints handling

As prescribed by our Recordkeeping Plan, the department
started an online recordkeeping awareness and induction
course in 2004. All staff are required to undertake this training.

The department recognises that appropriate attention to the
concerns of clients is an essential component of successful
client-focused service delivery. Our Customer Complaints and
Feedback policy helps to ensure complaints are handled fairly
and efficiently. Clients are encouraged to complete the customer
feedback form on our website. The number of complaints
received in 2012/13 was less than the previous year. The five
complaints received related to a range of issues. The total is an
acceptable level for the department given the large number of
regulatory statutes we administer on behalf of the government.

Towards the end of 2011, the implementation of a departmentwide electronic document management system was approved.
This finalised the configuration of the recordkeeping system.
It now provides the ability to review existing corporate records
and enables staff to apply the newly approved schedules and
language.

Expenditure on advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the
department incurred the following expenditure on advertising,
market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Table 23 Complaints received 2012/13
Types of complaints received
Regulatory
Information accuracy and timeliness
Negligence/misconduct
Financial
Total

2012/13
1
0
3
1
5

Total expenditure for 2012/13 was $737 027. Expenditure was
incurred in the following areas:
Table 24 Expenditure on advertising, market research,
polling, direct mail and media advertising 2012/13
Advertising agencies
Adcorp Australia
Mitchell and Partners Australia Pty Ltd
Vivid Group Pty Ltd
White Pages Telstra

Recordkeeping plans
The State Records Commission approved the department’s
Functional Retention and Disposal Schedule RD2011014.
This document is required for all departments under the
State Records Act 2000. This now completes the revision of the
principal documents required for a compliant recordkeeping
program, which started with a detailed review of the
Recordkeeping Plan in 2009, followed by a revision of the
Business Classification Scheme in 2011.

Market research organisations
Research Solutions
Polling organisation
NA
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$334 508
$292 920
$21 407
$15 197
$4 984
$878
$878
Nil
NA
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Direct mail organisations
Quickmail
Campaign Monitor Co
Email Media

Media advertising organisations
State Law Publisher
Public Relations Institute of Aust.
Kondinin Information Services
Mayflower
Rural Press Regional Media
Point Design Solutions
Cineads Australia P/L
Croker Lacey Graphic Design
4L Design
Megan Hele Design
Western Potatoes
Albany Advertiser
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Brand Events Aust
Braincells Pty Ltd
Proton Promotional
Bannister Downs Dairy Co
Agbizcareers Pty Ltd
Sheila Publishing
Dew London Ltd
Createsend/Com
Design Co-operative Ltd
Linkletters
Geraldton Newspapers
Farmwest
Macquarie Southern Cross
Optima Press
Magicorp Pty Limited
Abg pages Pty Ltd
WA Newspapers
Avon Advocate
Albany Weekender

$44 363
$7 698
$8 096
$28 570

$249 437
$43 694
$28 603
$26 929
$25 256
$17 649
$16 101
$14 130
$11 500
$9 726
$7 625
$6 139
$5 341

$4 560
$4 098
$3 907
$2 750
$2 236
$2 205
$2 160
$1 821
$1 675
$1 639
$1 597
$1 540
$1 524
$1 392
$1 270
$874
$522
$519
$453

and non-government sources for the next financial year
(2013/14) is estimated at $24 million. For details of sources
of special purpose funding, see Note 49 on page 116 of the
financial statements.

Department’s annual estimates
Government agencies are required to submit for Ministerial
approval annual estimates for any special purpose accounts that
are not reflected in the budget statements.
All special purpose accounts held by the Department of
Agriculture and Food, Western Australia are detailed in the
department’s budget statements and financial statements. The
level of grants and contributions from both federal government
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Equal employment opportunity and Disability
Access and Inclusion Plan
In 2012/13, we continued to provide opportunities to promote
and encourage diversity within our workforce. Specific initiatives
included the:
•

development of a Workforce and Diversity Plan 2012–15 to
succeed the EEO Management Plan 2010–13

•

release of a new Reconciliation Action Plan 2012–14

•

commencement of a revised advanced Aboriginal Cultural
Awareness program

•

development of a mandatory cultural awareness course with
modules on multicultural and Aboriginal cultural awareness.

Our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) provides
strategies for the inclusion of clients and staff with disability
through improved access to information, services and facilities.
Our key achievements in relation to this plan are outlined below.

Table 25 Disability Access and Inclusion Plan key achievements 2012/13
Outcome: People with disabilities...
have the same opportunities as others
to access the services of, and events
organised by, a public authority
have the same opportunities as other
people to access the buildings and
other facilities of a public authority
receive information in a format that
enables them to access it as readily as
other people
receive the same level and quality of
service from the employees of a public
authority as others
have the same opportunities as others
to make complaints to a public authority

Key achievements 2012/13
The Equity and Diversity Committee engagement format was changed to enable contact to be more
efficient and flexible when responding to DAIP issues and reporting on strategies.
Events and display guidelines were reviewed and updated to ensure accessibility to events.
A building accessibility audit was finalised in 2012, with work under way to address outstanding issues.
New buildings constructed at Merredin and Katanning comply with access requirements.
Reception areas and facility signage was reviewed to ensure consistency with the Disability Services
Commission’s checklist “Access Resource Kit”.
We continued to raise employee awareness to ensure all new publications are available in alternative
formats on request.
DVD and video production guidelines were developed to ensure all videos and DVDs developed by
DAFWA are accessible and meet the needs for people with disability.
We continued to raise employee awareness of equity and diversity issues via a range of methods,
including the EEO learning and development program, online induction, corporate celebrations and
regular internal communications.
Our EEO awareness course is reviewed annually to include guidance for staff in supporting people with
disabilities to access complaint and grievance processes.
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Reconciliation Action Plan
Our Reconciliation Action Plan 2012–14 (RAP) was developed and made available in 2012. The plan provides key strategies for our
vision of reconciliation and for recognising and respecting the role of traditional landowners in agricultural and pastoral industries.
Key activities and achievements in 2012/13 included the following:
Table 26 Reconciliation Action Plan key activities and achievements 2012/13
Outcome
Relationships – DAFWA recognises
the importance of having strong
relationships with traditional owners,
and the role these relationships
play in our shared objectives of
managing and using the state’s
natural resources for the benefit of all
Western Australians
Respect – DAFWA respects the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people and their cultures and
knowledge. This empowers our
relationships and helps facilitate our
objective of ensuring the long-term
sustainability of natural resources
Opportunities – DAFWA will continue
to provide opportunities to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people
to retain the tradition for caring for
agricultural and pastoral land

Key achievements 2012/13
We formed a working group comprising Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other Australians.
The group meets regularly to plan, monitor outcomes and champion strategies in line with the RAP.
We held corporate celebrations marking NAIDOC Week, including a flag-raising ceremony at South Perth
and other celebrations in a number of regional locations.
We continued the “Diversity Speaks” forum, with Aboriginal Elder Neville Collard providing an engaging and
informative talk on Aboriginal artefacts.
We participated in the National Reconciliation Week street banner program with three street banners on
display in St Georges Terrace and the Hay Street and Murray Street malls.
We reviewed and updated our Aboriginal Australians Cultural Protocols policy and procedures. We
continued to practise and raise awareness of DAFWA’s “Welcome to Country”, “Acknowledgement to
Country” and Cultural Protocols policy and procedures, which recognise the traditional landowners at
significant departmental events.
We continued to support and partner with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and formed
formal partnerships with many community groups, NRM groups and individuals.
We continued support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander traineeships, with employment of seven
trainees during the financial year.
We enhanced our commitment to cadetships for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. We previously
recruited cadets in the veterinary, agriculture science and natural resource disciplines. We now also employ
cadets in business management, communications and economics to increase the potential application pool.
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Indigenous Landholder Service in the limelight
The department’s efforts to help Aboriginal landholders successfully
manage their properties featured on the small screen during the year.

The farm, divested to the Walitj Aboriginal Corporation (WAC) in a
rundown state in 1997, has since become a success story.

In August 2012, the ABC’s Landline program aired the story “From little
things” about the Walitj Mia Mia Farm – the first Aboriginal-managed
farm on WA’s south coast.

Through the support of the Southern Agricultural Indigenous Landholder
Service (SAILS), a sub project of the department’s Indigenous
Landholder Service (ILS), the 600ha mixed farming property was
transformed from a defunct farm business into a showpiece operation.

The benefits for this property are not just economic —
the (SAILS) program has helped about 60 people from
the Colbung family to reconnect with their traditional
land. — Oscar Colbung, Walitj Mia Mia Farm
SAILS’ involvement has included providing technical expertise and
assisting the WAC in developing an environmental management plan to
improve the property’s environmental values and sustainable farming
practices.
The farm now produces fat lambs and timber and is exploring a range of
emerging niche products, including boronia and bush tucker.
It achieved impressive 100% lambing rates in the 2012 season,
becoming a member of DAFWA’s 100%+ Club — an initiative to celebrate
WA’s sheep producers who are helping rebuild the state’s flock.

SAILS project manager Kelly Flugge (right) explains shearing handpieces to
TAFE students completing land management units at Walitj Mia Mia farm for
the Landline television crew.

Walitj Mia Mia is one of 70 Indigenous properties across the state
supported by the ILS.
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Government policy requirements
Occupational safety, health and injury management
Performance
Table 27 Occupational safety, health and injury management performance
Target
achieved
Yes
Yes

2012/13
Result
0
0.95

Yes
Yes

0
100

82

2012/13
Government target
0
0 or 10% improvement on the
previous 3 years
As above
Greater than or equal to 80% return
to work within 26 weeks
Actual percentage

Yes

100

94

80% or greater

Yes

97

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

Number of fatalities
Lost time injury/disease incidence rate

0
1.51

0
0.82

0
1.43

Lost time injury severity rate
Percentage of injured workers returned to
work within 26 weeks
Percentage of injured workers returned to
work within 13 weeks
Percentage of managers trained in OSH
and injury management

14.3
83

10
94

6.6
88

76

94

96*

95*

* Figures relate to all permanent staff

Key achievements and initiatives in 2012/13

•

Started a review of guarding of threshing machines

•

•

Improved Kununurra wash-down facilities in stockyard

•

Carried out reviews of asbestos audits at sites where
asbestos is present

•

Completed Worksafe Plan assessment

Continued noise assessments of machinery, equipment and
processes

•

Continued noise and hearing awareness program

•

Assessed software to assist in determining hearing loss

•

Made further improvements to aerial work processes

•

Updated remote area safety module on 4WD course

•

Continued program to upgrade silos to current safety
standards for height access
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Our commitment to OSH and injury management

Consultation on OSH and injury management

We have a general Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Policy,
29 other policies covering OSH systems and hazards, and one
policy on injury management and workers’ compensation. Most
of these policies have been in place for more than a decade and
are reviewed at least every three years. Any initiatives required
for new or reviewed policies are determined by the OSH Policy
Committee and are included in our annual OSH initiative
strategy. OSH and injury management targets are also included
in the strategy. Changes to policy are communicated to all OSH
committee chairpersons, OSH representatives and relevant
managers immediately after each policy committee meeting.
All policies are available on our intranet site and all new staff
members are made aware of the location of policies and other
OSH information through the induction process.

Our department has a two-tier system of consultation. Our
OSH Policy Committee is responsible for policy, strategy and
monitoring performance. This committee comprises managers
and regional OSH representatives. Local committees in larger
regional offices and staff meetings in smaller offices form the
second tier of consultation. Quarterly committee and staff
meetings consider incident, hazard and inspection reports and
actions raised by the OSH Policy Committee. There are elected
OSH representatives in every regional office. Staff members
are made aware of their local and regional OSH representatives
through local OSH induction and our OSH training courses.

Compliance with injury management requirements
of Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management
Act 1981

Executive commitment is demonstrated by:
•

having defined Executive Director OSH roles and
responsibilities

•

monitoring of quarterly and annual OSH performance
reports

•

prioritisation of funding for facilities, machinery and
equipment

•

support of, and participation in, mandatory OSH training

•

support of annual OSH initiatives.

Our department’s injury management system and return-towork program are documented in our injury management policy
and supporting guidelines. We have an early intervention injury
management program, which exceeds the requirements of the
Act.
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OSH and injury management systems

Training

An accredited consultant carried out a WorkSafe Plan
assessment of our OSH systems in 2012/13. The department
achieved a rating of 77%, which is equivalent to the standard for
a Gold certificate. Three recommendations were adopted by the
OSH Policy Committee with actions agreed as shown below:

OSH awareness training is mandatory for staff. Ninety-eight
per cent of staff had completed the training at 30 June 2013.
Another education focus for this year was raising awareness
of noise and hearing via informal training with individual
workgroups.

• Review all activities with potential fatality consequences
using the risk matrix and associated policies, procedures and
training requirements to ensure appropriate controls are in
place. This will commence next financial year.

We continue to provide two levels of driver training and a
range of skills-based training related to the use of machinery,
chemicals and other processes.

• Review the risk assessment process through the application
of the hazard and incident report forms and inspection
checklists and include the use of the risk matrix to determine
the level of risk and the effectiveness of any identified
controls. We plan to change our incident, hazard reporting
and inspection processes during 2013/14.
• Review all site asbestos registers to comply with legislative
and internal policy requirements. The reviews were
substantially complete as at 30 June 2013.
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Substantive equality

•

Substantive equality means providing services in ways that
consider people with differing needs and that create equitable
outcomes for all Western Australians as far as possible.

the development and delivery of advanced Indigenous
Australian Cultural Awareness training, reinforcing the need
for appropriate client engagement protocols

•

the implementation of Stage 2 training for employees
working with Indigenous Australians or minority groups in the
rangelands, with a specific focus on cultural differences in
the Kimberley Region

•

new mandatory employee training, which promotes the
principles of substantive equality

•

the Indigenous Landholder Service continuing to engage and
deliver services with Indigenous clients to build landholder
capacity for the sustainable management of their properties

•

the horticulture industry being represented by Vietnamese
producers in Carnarvon, Geraldton and Wanneroo with
DAFWA facilitating the employment of a Vietnamese
horticultural development officer through VegetablesWA to
support Vietnamese growers

We are committed to substantive equality, requiring all our
programs to comply with the provisions of the Equal Opportunity
Act 1984. We seek to ensure that our services are designed
and delivered in ways that meet the needs of all our clients by
applying the following principles:
•

serving members of the agriculture community regardless of
age, race, culture, religion, disability or gender

•

seeking to meet the diverse needs of our clients by
continuous review and development of service design and
delivery

•

ensuring substantive equality principles are incorporated into
all plans, procedures and practices

•

ensuring staff have the knowledge, skills and abilities to
support the policy

•

39 businesses participating in Plan, Prepare and Prosper
workshops facilitated for Vietnamese horticulturalists

•

ensuring client services are developed and delivered
appropriately and equitably.

•

reviews of the department’s substantive equality policy and
associated communication plan

•

being highly commended at the 2013 WA Multicultural
Community Services Awards in the “Engaging the
Community in Innovation Award” category through our
involvement with Vietnamese producers as part of the WA
Pilot of Drought Reform Measures

•

recognition in the national Cooperative Research Centres
Association Awards for Excellence in Innovation 2013,
for processes in Indigenous engagement and developing
working relationships with traditional owners in the Western
Desert (see case study, p. 158).

Key achievements for 2012/13
Substantive equality principles are reflected in our Strategic Plan
2011–15, and within the priority of “building industry capacity” in
particular. The Executive Director of the Regional Operations and
Development directorate has lead responsibility for substantive
equality at DAFWA and is working closely with the Equal
Opportunity Commission. Our commitment to implementing the
policy framework for substantive equality in 2012/13 is reflected
through:
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Recognition for engaging with remote communities
The department earned praise for effectively engaging remote Aboriginal
communities to help reduce the impact of feral camels on natural
resources and communities.

DAFWA, led by WA project manager Dennis Rafferty and field
coordinators Mac Jensen and Andrew Longbottom, developed working
relationships with Aboriginal landholders, handled consent activities and
managed removal activities in remote and inaccessible country.

DAFWA has led the Western Australian side of the Australian Feral
Camel Management Project (AFCMP), which in May 2013 received
the Cooperative Research Centres Association (CRCA) “Innovation in
Education and Training for Public Outreach Activities” award.

By holding meetings and tailoring scientific messages, they built the
trust and support of Aboriginal communities and pastoralists.
The team explained the camels’ negative environmental impact — threats
to bush tucker food sources and damage to community facilities such
as cultural sites and water sources, as remote waterholes are critical to
sustaining local flora and fauna.

The award recognised the project’s innovative approach in engaging and
gaining the support of Aboriginal landholders and communities.

DAFWA has been a valued partner of the project and has
shown us how to work with landowners and managers in
pastoral, Aboriginal and conservation areas.
— Quentin Hart, National Manager, AFCMP
Aboriginal community leaders and traditional owners were asked to help
develop removal programs while Aboriginal rangers were employed to
provide logistical support for the camel removal teams.
By 30 June 2013, the four-year project had resulted in the removal of
more than 46 000 feral camels in WA and 140 000 Australia-wide.
The project has been extended to November 2013.

DAFWA’s Mac Jensen (third from left) with traditional landowners.
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Statement from the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation
Agreements to reserve and conservation covenants

A report on the Commissioner’s operations for 2012/13 is
submitted in accordance with Section 25 F of the Soil and Land
Conservation Act 1945.

The Commissioner registered four irrevocable Conservation
Covenants protecting 74.2ha in perpetuity during the year.
A further 13 covenants protecting about 508ha have been
negotiated and are pending finalisation. In total, 1801
instruments under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945 are
registered on certificates of title protecting 152 658ha of native
and planted vegetation.

Delegations
The delegation of powers by the Commissioner under Part II
of the Act remain in effect with a Regional Manager in the
Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC) and
another at the Department of Water (DoW) to negotiate and
administer covenants under Part IV A. Two Department of
Agriculture and Food (DAFWA) inspectors were delegated
powers under section 21 (1). The Commissioner continues to
have delegated authority from the Minister for the Environment
to issue woodchip permits.

Soil conservation notices
Two soil conservation notices were drafted and remain pending.
One long-standing notice protecting remnant vegetation from
unauthorised land clearing is subject of appeal under section
39 by the State Administrative Tribunal and remains pending
finalisation of a revegetation plan by the applicant. One notice
was reviewed by the Commissioner under section 38 and
remains pending further negotiations with the landowner.

Land clearing assessments 2012/13
Sixty-two clearing area and purpose permit applications were
assessed for land degradation, with advice provided to DEC for
agriculture purpose clearing or other agencies for infrastructure
development.

Land drainage
During 2012/13, 12 landholders submitted Notices of Intention
to Drain (NOIs). Letters advising no objection to the proposed
works were issued to 10 landowners. One landowner received
a letter of objection and one proposal was withdrawn by the
proponent.

Compliance
The Commissioner investigated five clearing, six drainage
and eight land degradation complaints. Seven complaints are
pending further investigation or monitoring of compliance with
directions given.

The draft policy framework for inland drainage prepared by
the Wheatbelt Drainage Council in 2009/10 was endorsed by
the Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council in June
2012. It was publicly released by the Ministers for Water and
Agriculture and Food on 16 January 2013.

Woodchip permits
No woodchip permits were issued.
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Land Conservation District Committees (LCDCs)

2010/11 Carnarvon flood response

At the end of the financial year, 98 Land Conservation Districts
(LCDs) were proclaimed under the Soil and Land Conservation
Act 1945. However, 57 do not have a committee appointed
and are effectively in recess. Seven inactive committees were
abolished and a further 19 are pending gazettal of abolition
notices. During the year, eight district committees and 11
individual members were appointed.

The State and Commonwealth governments have committed
about $60 million to implement the Stage 2 flood mitigation
works. The partial levees presently under construction are
expected to afford excellent flood protection to about 16% of
horticultural properties and lower (~250mm) the depth of water
flowing over much of the balance of the production area in the
event of a 1:100ARI flood. A study of the residual flood risk was
undertaken (Ghose, Watson and Keen) to inform policy aimed at
improving industry sustainability. It indicates that a substantial
risk of future flood damage to plantation industry will remain
after these mitigation works are completed.

Table A1 Number of gazetted members of district
committees (excluding Commissioner’s nominees) in
2012/13
Member type
Land users
Government (including local
government) representatives
Industry organisation representatives
Total

Number
379
76
58
513
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Condition of the resource base
2006/07. The East Binnu Sandplain, Dandaragan Plateau, South
Western Zone of Ancient Drainage and Esperance Sandplain are
identified as having high risk due to generally rising groundwater
levels.

With the exception of much of the southern rangelands,
favourable conditions were experienced throughout much of the
rest of the state in 2012/13. The declining resource condition in
the southern rangelands highlighted in previous years’ reports
will not be resolved by one or two good seasons.

Soil erosion

Agricultural region

Pre-harvest and pre-seeding roadside surveys of more than
4000 sites assessed factors that contribute to erosion risk (soil
type, ground cover and disturbance/management). In spring
2012, no sites were assessed to be at risk of erosion. However,
by autumn 2013, about 2% of sites in the Southern Agricultural
Region and about 8% of sites in the Central Agricultural Region
(c.f. 14% in 2011/12) were assessed to be at moderate to very
high risk of soil erosion due to stubble burning and tillage.
However, the widespread summer and autumn rains lowered
erosion risk.

Agricultural activities are largely confined to the South West
Land Division in WA and productivity is dependent upon the
condition of the soil resource. These soils are susceptible to
salinisation, acidification, soil erosion and loss of fertility. Inland
waterways and wetlands in much of the wheatbelt are also
susceptible to acid groundwater discharge. Agriculture affects
wetlands, waterways and estuaries by contributing to salinity,
nutrient export and sedimentation. The combination of soil
constraints, climate variability and increasing production costs is
having a significant impact in the marginal districts.

Soil Acidity
Soil acidity (pH<4.8) is recognised as a serious large-scale
and long-term land degradation threat to the state’s crop and
pasture production. Under a series of collaborative projects,
extensive soil testing to identify or confirm problem paddocks
was carried out during the past three years by 361 growers and
more than 1900 people have attended workshops, updates
and field days. Lime WA Inc. reported that slightly more than
1.3 million tonnes of lime was sold in the 2012/13. While this is
a significant increase on the previous year, it is well below the
estimated 2.5 million tonnes per annum that is required to raise
soil pH to desirable levels.

Salinity
Dryland salinity is a form of land degradation that affects both
private and public land. It affects upon water resources and
biodiversity, and damages infrastructure. More than one million
hectares are severely salt affected in the south-west agricultural
region. In areas cleared and developed for agriculture after
1960, most watertables continue to rise, despite a reduction in
annual rainfall. Consequently, dryland salinity has expanded in
most regions since last measured in 1998, especially following
significant rainfall events that occurred in 1999/2000, 2005 and
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Rivers and Wetlands

Rangeland Resource Condition

Diffuse nutrient pollution from agriculture is a serious land
degradation problem on the Swan Coastal Plain. The resultant
algal blooms and eutrophic conditions in waterways and
wetlands have significant impacts on the environment and local
communities. This issue was again highlighted by a significant
fish kill on 13–17 April 2013 in the Vasse–Wonnerup wetlands
near Busselton. The estuary and wetlands have long suffered
from highly enriched flows of water from agricultural land and
increasingly from expanding urban development. Toxic algal
blooms are now an annual occurrence and will in future cause
ecosystem collapse if management responses continue to be
ineffective. Farm soil test data previously reported indicate
that 75% of soil samples have phosphorus levels in excess
of production requirements and that ongoing poor farm
management is a significant causal factor for this significant land
degradation problem.

The rangeland condition assessment in the Kimberley and much
of the Pilbara is based on the frequency of perennial grasses
while density of perennial shrubs is used to determine condition
in the southern rangelands. The Western Australian Rangeland
Monitoring System (WARMS) was established between 1993
and 1999 to monitor rangeland condition trend at a regional
scale.
There are 1622 sites, with 633 grassland sites and 989
shrubland sites. Grassland sites are reassessed on a three-year
cycle while shrubland sites are reassessed on a five-year cycle.
The effect of rainfall and seasonal conditions is considered for
each site and assessment period.
In 2012/13, the majority of WARMS sites in the Kimberley
Region received average or above average seasonal conditions.
This follows an unbroken run of 18 years of average or above
average rainfall.

Pastoral region

For the second successive season, 100% of Pilbara WARMS
sites experienced average or above average seasonal
conditions following the drought years leading up to 2010.
Consistent with the highly variable rainfall characteristic of the
arid southern shrublands, only 23% of WARMS sites received
average or above average seasonal quality in 2012/13 compared
with 93% in 2011/12 and 65% in 2010/11. In contrast, 83% of
WARMS sites in the Gascoyne–Ashburton Headwaters land
conservation district and 100% of WARMS sites in the Wiluna
land conservation district received average or above average
seasonal conditions.

WA’s rangelands cover 87% of the state, with pastoral leases
covering 35% (874 000km2) and Unallocated Crown Lands
(UCL) vested for conservation and Indigenous purposes making
up the balance. There are currently 453 registered pastoral
stations on 508 pastoral leases. The northern rangelands
support 152 stations with 93 in the Kimberley and 59 in
the Pilbara, while 292 stations are located in the southern
rangelands. Nine stations are located in the South West Land
Division.

162

Appendix A

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2013

Table A2 Seasonal quality by region for WARMS sites in
2012/13
Region
Kimberley
Pilbara
Shrublands

Above average
(%)
28
79
3

Average
(%)
66
21
20

As reported in 2011/12, and despite 100% of WARMS receiving
an average or above average season, four of the five Pilbara
LCDs have shown a continual decline in perennial grass
frequencies, while the Lyndon LCD sites show a steady increase
in perennial grass frequencies since 2003. For the current
reporting period, data is only available for Ashburton LCD and it
indicates a further decline in the frequency of desirable perennial
grasses. Reported stock numbers increased in all LCDs except
De Grey, which remained stable. Stock numbers generally fell
in 2010 and 2011. Reported stock numbers in 2012 were in
excess of assessed Present Carrying Capacity on 80% of De
Grey leases, 43% of East Pilbara, 41% of Roebourne, and 29%
of Ashburton LCD leases. The reported decline in the perennial
grass frequency indicates that these stocking densities cannot
be sustained. The current data raises concerns about the risk
of land degradation occurring; however, definitive statements
cannot be made as range condition data is no longer collected.

Below average
(%)
6
0
77

WARMS site and reported stock data
In the East and West Kimberley LCDs, the frequency of all
perennial grasses (desirable and undesirable) has increased
since measurement commenced in 1993/94 and remains high.
For the current assessment period, monitoring data is complete
for the Broome and North Kimberley LCDs where reported stock
numbers are below the assessed Present Carrying Capacity
(= potential carrying capacity discounted for range condition) for
the LCD.

The declining trend in the southern rangeland shrublands
continues. On the sites assessed to date, there has been an
overall decline of 21% in desirable shrubs since 2003. This
was most marked in the Gascoyne–Ashburton Headwaters
LCD, where about 50% of all desirable shrubs disappeared on
WARMS sites that received above average seasonal conditions.
Significant declines were also recorded in the North-Eastern
Goldfields and Wiluna LCDs. Reported stock densities are
generally below the assessed Present Carrying Capacity in most
LCDs (exceptions were Wiluna and Upper Gascoyne).

The frequency trend for desirable perennial grasses at LCD level
is positive in Broome and shows a substantial decline in the
North Kimberley. The WARMS data for West Kimberley and Halls
Creek East Kimberley is incomplete but suggests some decline.
In 2012 reported stock numbers were above assessed Present
Carrying Capacity for leases in 31% of the North Kimberley,
33% of Broome, 42% of Halls Creek East Kimberley and 61% of
Derby West Kimberley leases.
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Conclusions
The monitoring data point to a number of critical areas where
land degradation is undermining the sustainability of our
agricultural industries.

• In the southern rangelands, desirable shrub numbers
continued to decline at a high proportion of WARMS sites,
even where above average seasonal conditions were
experienced (e.g. in the Gascoyne–Ashburton Headwaters
LCD). This is suggestive of excessive grazing pressure.

• More than one million hectares of farmland are severely salt
affected in the South-West Agricultural Region. In many areas
cleared after 1960, watertables continue to rise despite a
reduction in annual rainfall and dryland salinity has expanded
in most regions since 1998.

• In the Pilbara and southern rangelands regions, the declining
frequency of desirable perennial species occurring on
WARMS sites reported in 2010 and 2011 continued in 2012. It
suggests a long-term overestimation of the carrying capacity
of the rangelands by industry.

• Tillage and stubble burning continue to pose a threat of
accelerated soil erosion in the Central Agricultural Region.

Andrew Watson
Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation

• Subsoil acidity that reduces agricultural productivity
continues to reduce productivity of many agricultural soils.
While lime applications significantly increased in the current
year to about 1.3 million tonnes, it is significantly less than the
2.5 million tonnes per annum required to maintain or restore
productivity.
• Long-term nutrient export from agricultural land on the
Swan Coastal Plain is significant and regularly causes
eutrophication of wetlands and rivers. On-farm soil testing
indicates that inappropriate fertiliser management continues
to limit production and cause significant offsite land
degradation.
• In the grasslands of the northern rangelands, land
degradation in the form of loss of productive palatable
perennial species reduces carrying capacities. The frequency
of desirable grass species declined in most of the Kimberley
and Pilbara LCDs.
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